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Natural Heritage Trust 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
June 28, 2023 11:00 a.m. 

 
A G E N D A 

 

1. Commissioner Kulleseid Calls Meeting to Order 
 

2. Approval of Minutes of January 20, 2023 Board Meeting 
 
3. Annual Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair of the NHT 
 

• NHT Committee Assignments 
 Resolution #2023-4: Appointing Audit Committee 

 
4. FY 2022-23 Independent Audit and Financial Statements 

• Presentation from Wojeski & Company, CPAs, P.C. 
 Resolution #2023-5: Adopting FY 2022-2023 Audit and Financial Statements 

 
5. Special Centennial Project with the NYS Bridge Authority  

 Resolution #2023-6: Authorizing NHT to enter into Memorandum of Agreement 
with NYS Bridge Authority  

 
6. Governance Committee Report 

 Board Member Evaluation 
 

7. Deputy Director & CFO Report 
• Banking & Investment Report 

 Resolution #2023-7: Approving FY 2022-23 Investment Report 
 Resolution #2023-8: Re-Adopting NHT Banking & Investment Policy 

 
• Procurement Report 

 Resolution #2023-9: Approving FY 2022-23 Procurement Report 
 Resolution #2023-10: Re-Adopting NHT Procurement Policy 

 
• Employee Report and Updates  

 
8. Executive Director Report 

• Mission Statement & Performance Measures Report  
• Program and Project Updates 
• Draft NHT Annual Report 

 
9.  Other Business 

 
10. Adjournment 











 

NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
RESOLUTION # 2023-4 

 
Resolution for the Natural Heritage Trust to Appoint  

Audit Committee Members 
(Proposed June 28, 2023) 

 
WHERAS, the Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Natural Heritage Trust (“NHT”) has 
the responsibility to establish policies to enhance the professional performance of the 
NHT’s directors, officers and employees and to preserve public confidence in the NHT; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Article VI Section 1of the By-laws governing the Board, last amended and 
adopted June 16, 2008, requires the establishment of an audit committee; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 2824 subdivisions 4 and 6 of the Public Authorities Law, as 
amended in 2009 requires the Board to establish an audit committee that shall be familiar 
with corporate financial and accounting practices; and   
 
WHEREAS, the NHT has heretofore established an Audit Committee in accordance with 
the Public Authorities Law and its By-laws; and 
 
WHEREAS, an Audit Committee Charter was adopted by the NHT on March 17, 2010 
which documents the composition, responsibilities, and powers of the Audit Committee; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors is desirous of appointing individuals to serve on the 
Audit Committee as it has been so formulated. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby RESOLVED that the following individuals are 
appointed to serve on the Audit Committee and that their appointments shall be at the 
pleasure of the Board of Directors: 

 
Donna Ensign, Principal Accountant, Department of  

Environmental Conservation 
Laura Mason, Director of Internal Audit, Office of Parks, Recreation & 

   Historic Preservation 
Linda Herald, Director of Internal Audit, Department of State  

 
MOVED BY:     
 
SECONDED BY:   
 
In Favor:     
Opposed:   
 
In Witness Hereof:   ____________________________  

Secretary 



 
Audit Committee 

 
 
Donna Ensign 
 

Donna has been with the NYS Department of Environmental Conservation for 16 years. She is a 
Principal Accountant in the Department’s Division of Management and Budget Services. She 
serves as Bureau Chief for both the Expenditures Unit which handles all payments going out of 
the agency and the Federal Accounting Unit which handles all Federal revenue coming into the 
agency.  She also oversees the NHT accounts for the agency. 

She has over 20 years of experience as Treasurer of a small business. She has served on the NHT 
audit committee since 2010.  

Donna received her undergraduate degree in Marketing and Management along with an 
Accounting Certificate from Siena College.   

 
Linda Herald 
 
Linda has over 25 years of experience performing government audits. She has a Bachelor of 
Science in Accounting from the University at Albany.  She is also a Certified Internal Auditor 
(CIA) and Certified Government Auditing Professional (CGAP). 

 
Laura Mason 
 
Laura Mason is the Internal Audit Director at the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation 
and Historic Preservation. Laura joined OPRHP in 2016 and became the Director of Internal 
Audit in 2020, first serving in the role as the Acting Director and later appointed to the role in 
2021. During her 12-year career with the State, she has served two agencies in various titles 
including Senior Auditor, Associate Auditor and Director of Internal Audit. Laura is a Certified 
Public Accountant with a Bachelors of Science degree in Accounting and a Master of Business 
Administration. 
 



 

NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
RESOLUTION # 2023-5 

 
Resolution for the Natural Heritage Trust to Adopt  

2022-2023 Audited Financial Statements 
(Proposed June 28, 2023) 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust (“NHT”) has a duty pursuant to 
Article 55.13 of the Arts and Cultural Affairs Law to submit annually, “a complete and 
detailed report of its operations and accomplishments, its receipts and disbursements, and 
its assets and liabilities;” and 
 
WHEREAS, Public Authorities Law requires an annual independent audit report, 
performed by a certified public accounting firm in accordance with generally accepted 
government auditing standards, of the books and accounts of the NHT; and 
 
WHEREAS, the 2022-2023 Audited Financial Statements have been presented to and 
reviewed by the Board; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby RESOLVED that the 2022-2023 Audited Financial 
Statements are hereby adopted by the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust. 
 
MOVED BY:    
SECONDED BY:  
 
In Favor:  
Opposed:   
 
In Witness Hereof:   ____________________________ 
    Secretary 
 



Memorandum 

 

To: NHT Board of Directors 

From:  Sally Drake and Sarah Purcell 

Date: June 23, 2023 

Re: NHT Audited Financial Statements 

 

The financial statements are attached, and the auditors will review them with the Board at the meeting. 
They are always presented in “draft” format and become final after the Board approves them via Board 
Resolution.  

Audit Process Overview  

The FY 2022-23 independent audit was conducted by Wojeski & Company. This is the 4rd year of the 5- 
year auditing and tax services contract (competitively bid in 2020). 

The Audit Committee and NHT Management met via webex videoconference for an opening meeting 
with the Audit Partner, Frank Ferrucci and Audit Manager, Chris Stephens on 4/24/23. Over the first two 
weeks in May, Wojeski Audit Staff worked on-site at 625 Broadway, reviewing NHT financial 
transactions, backup documentation, NHT financial policies and procedures. The drafts of the financial 
statements were shared with the Audit Committee.  

You will see that the auditors issued a “Clean Opinion,” meaning the financials, in their opinion, present 
an accurate and true representation of the NHT’s financial position as of 3/31/23. (Page 8 – Independent 
Auditor’s Report).   

Key Takeaways for this Year: 

1. Both increased spending on the fiduciary side and unrealized losses on investments resulted in 
an overall decrease of $3.4M in total assets compared to FY 22. 
  

2. After a decade of consistent growth, the endowments had a challenging year. The increased 
spending is attributable to successful completion of some major capital projects and more 
program offerings. We are pleased to report to our donors and funders that the dollars granted 
to NHT have been put to work as intended.  
 

3. The two organizational liabilities related to pension and retiree health care obligations (OPEB) 
decreased again. The favorable positioning of the pension liability is the result of the Common 
Retirement Fund’s strong performance. The OPEB liability decreased due to an increase to the 
discount rate used by the actuaries in the valuation. 
 

4. On new investments the NHT is earning more interest income due to the higher rate 
environment, but the older bonds purchased when rates were lower continue to carry 
unrealized losses.       



 
Financial Summary 

Total Assets (All the Cash and Investments held by NHT) = $62.5M  
Total Liabilities (All Current and Long-Term Obligations of NHT) = $59.2M  
(See Page 11– Statement of Net Position) 
 
Operating Revenue (Funds Supporting NHT Admin Costs)= $474k. This reads low due to unrealized 
losses 
Operating Expenses (Cost of NHT Admin Staff/Related Costs) = $639k. This reads low due to favorable 
adjustments to the pension & retiree health care obligations  
Organizational Net Position = $1.78M 
(Page 12 and 31 – Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Change in Net Position & NHT Operating Budget 
to Actual Detail) 

 
Fiduciary Fund Revenue (Agency Program/Project Donations, Grants & Staff Contract Income) = $12.8M 
Fiduciary Fund Expenses (All related Agency Project, Programming Expenses) = $16.3M 
Fiduciary Fund Net Position = $57.3M 
(See Page 15 – Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position) 
 
Audit of Compliance with Investment Policies 

In addition to audit testing of financial transactions of the NHT, there is also a separate assessment of 
compliance with the NHT’s investment policy. The audit of investments found the NHT to be in 
compliance with its investment policies. 
 

IRS Form 990 

Wojeski & Company also compiles our Form 990 and related Schedules. Much of the information for the 
IRS filing is also collected during the audit but takes a little longer to compile. We will share a draft of the 
990 via email in July.   
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DATE 
 
To the Board of Directors, Audit Committee and Management  
Natural Heritage Trust 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Natural Heritage Trust (the "Trust") for the 
year ended March 31, 2023.  Professional standards require that we provide you with 
information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope 
and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such informa ion in our letter to you dated 
May 1, 2023.  Professional standards also require that we c mmunicate to you the following 
information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of ppropriate accounting policies.  The 
significant accounting policies used by the uth ity are d scribed in Note A to the financial 
statements.  As described in Note A to the finan i  statements, the Agency adopted the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87 – Leases.  The 
standard was adopted on a retr pe ive bas s as of the beginning of the earliest period 
presented. The adoption did no  result n any re lassifications or restatements of changes in 
net position or net position.  We ote   t sactions entered into by the Authority during 
the year for which there is a lack f authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant 
transactions have been r cog ed in he financial statements in the proper period. 
  
Accounting estimate  are an i tegral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are b sed on management's knowledge and experience about past and 
current events and assumption  about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are 
particularly sensitive becaus  f their significance to the financial statements and because of 
the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected.  The most sensitive estimates affecting the Trust’s financial statements were: 
 

 Management’s estimate of the fair value of investments, including the unrealized 
gains (losses) on investments, is based on quoted market prices in active markets.   

 
 Management’s estimate of the other postemployment benefits (OPEB) obligation is 

based on the actuarial methods and assumptions used by the Trust’s actuary. 
 

 Management’s estimate of net pension liability (asset) and related deferred outflows 
and inflows of resources is based on actuarial assumptions utilized by an actuary 
applied to the pension plan’s census information. 
 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in 
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. 
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The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements 
identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them 
to the appropriate level of management.  No such misstatements were noted.   

 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For the purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, 
reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be 
significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s rep t.  We are pleased to report that 
no such disagreements arose during the course of our a dit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from m nagement that are included in the 
management representation letter dated DATE. 
 
Management Consultation with Other Indepe dent ountants 
 
In some cases, management may ide to c nsult with other accountants about auditing 
and accounting matters, similar to obt ning a second opinion" on certain situations.  If a 
consultation involves applicati  of n accounting principle to the Trust’s financial 
statements or a determination of he type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on 
those statements, our p ional andards require the consulting accountant to check 
with us to determine that the co sultan  has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there 
were no such consult tions with o her accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Is es 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles 
and auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Trust's 
auditors.  However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary 
comparison information, the schedule of funding progress for the retiree health plan, the 
schedule of proportionate share of net pension liability (asset), and the schedule of 
contributions – pension plans, which are required supplementary information (RSI) that 
supplements the basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of inquiries of 
management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
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statements.  We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the RSI. 
 
We were not engaged to report on the Commission’s annual report that is defined by 
Section 2800 of the New York State Public Authorities Law, Annual Reports by Authorities.  
Our responsibility under professional standards is to consider whether a material 
inconsistency exists between the annual report and the audited financial statements that 
includes our report thereon.  The annual report has not been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied to the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Trustees, Audit Committee 
and Management of Natural Heritage Trust and is not intended to be, and should not be, 
used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
Very truly yours,  
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Natural Heritage Trust (the “Trust”) is a New York State Public Benefit Corporation and 
State Authority.  The Trust’s mission is to receive and administer gifts, grants and 
contributions to further public programs for parks, recreation, cultural, land and water 
conservation and historic preservation purposes of the State of New York.  
 
The Trust has a four-member Board of Directors consisting of the Commissioner of New York 
State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation, the Chair of the State Council of 
Parks, the Commissioner of the Department of Environmental Conservation, and the 
Secretary of State of the Department of State.  All Board members serve without 
compensation paid by the Trust.  
 
The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the Trust is an introduction to the major 
activities affecting the operation of the Trust and an overview and analysis of the financial 
statements of the Trust for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023.  The information contained 
in the MD&A should be considered in connection with the information contained in the financial 
statements and footnotes to the financial statements. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The Trust's financial statements consist of three parts: 1) Management Discussion and 
Analysis (MD&A) (this section), 2) the basic financial statements, and 3) required 
supplementary information.  The Trust is accounted for as a proprietary fund, and therefore 
the financial statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting.  
 
Basic financial statements 
 
The basic financial statements include the following: 
 

• Statement of Net Position – The Statement of Net Position, or balance sheet, 
includes all assets and liabilities of the Trust using the accrual basis of accounting.  The 
Statement of Net Position reports the Trust’s net position, the difference between the 
total Trust assets, total Trust deferred outflows of resources, total Trust liabilities and 
total Trust deferred inflows of resources in three main categories, including net 
positions invested in capital assets, restricted net position and unrestricted net 
position.   

 
• Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position – The Statement 

of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position records revenue and expenses on 
the accrual basis.  Revenues are recorded when measurable and earned and expenses 
are recorded when incurred, regardless of when cash is received or paid.   

 
• Statement of Cash Flows – The Statement of Cash Flows provides information about 

the sources and uses of the Trust’s cash through operating, noncapital financing, 
capital financing, and investing activities.   
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• Notes to the Financial Statements – The accompanying notes to the financial 
statements provide information essential to a full understanding of the Trust’s financial 
statements and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements. 

 
In addition, the Trust acts in a trustee capacity for individuals, private organizations, and 
other government units.  These funds are not available to fund Trust operations, and 
accordingly, are accounted for as a fiduciary fund.  The assets, liabilities, net position, 
revenue, and expenses related to these funds are reported in separate fiduciary fund financial 
statements.  The fiduciary fund financial statements are presented using the flow of economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.   
 
The fiduciary fund represents monies held in trust for restricted purposes in concert with the 
Trust's partner agencies and other organizations.  Revenue is principally derived from gifts, 
grants, program activity fees, sponsorships, fundraising activity and investment income.  
Expenditures are project and program specific and support specific purposes under gift 
agreements, contracts, grant agreements and other arrangements. 
 
The fiduciary fund financial statements include the following: 
 

• Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
presents financial information about the assets, liabilities and fiduciary net position 
held in trust by the Trust. 

 
• Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – The Statement of Changes in 

Fiduciary Net Position presents fiduciary activities of the fiduciary fund.   It accounts 
for all of the current year additions and deductions and measures the financial results 
of fiduciary fund operations over the past year 

 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
The required supplementary information consists of information that is required to be reported 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board in addition to the basic financial statements 
and includes the following:  
 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position – Budget to Actual 
provides a comparison of budget and actual information for the Trust's operations. 
 
The Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset) provides current and 
historical information on the Trust’s share of the New York State Employees’ Retirement 
System Plan’s net pension liability (asset). 
 
The Schedule of Contributions – Pension Plans provides current and historical information on 
the Trust’s required contributions to the New York State Employees’ Retirement System Plan. 
 
The Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios provides current and 
historical information on the changes in the Trust’s total other post-employment benefits 
(OPEB) liability. 
 
Supplementary information begins immediately following the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TRUST 
 
Below is a condensed summary of the statement of net position as compared to the 2022 
fiscal year. 
 
 

SUMMARY OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 
 

 
The Trust's assets consist primarily of cash, money market funds, fixed income debt 
obligations and equity exchange traded funds. Funds received for the various fiduciary fund 
program accounts are deposited into the general fund and invested until they are 
subsequently disbursed for project and program purposes. Each fixed income debt obligation 
in the Trust's portfolio bears interest at a fixed rate. The market value of fixed income debt 
obligations fluctuates between purchase date and maturity date based on changes in market 
interest rates.  

 
For internal accounting purposes, transactions from the fiduciary project accounts are tracked 
on a specific basis and recorded in accordance with established requirements relating to each 
project or program. As of March 31, 2023, the Trust had 189 of these fiduciary project 
accounts compared to 192 in the prior year and total assets decreased by about $3.4M.   

 
Deferred outflows of resources are a separate financial statement element that represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an 
outflow of resources (expense) until then. The deferred outflows reported on the statement 
of net position are related to pensions (see Note F to the financial statements).  

 
Almost all current liabilities reflect the amount due to the fiduciary fund (approximately 92%).  

 
The long-term liabilities are related to fringe benefits for Trust administrative and program 
staff (6 and 48 Full-Time Equivalents as of March 31, 2023, respectively) and consist of the 
Trust’s net OPEB obligation (for retirement health benefits) and net pension liability. These 
liabilities are based on an annual actuarial valuation and represent the estimated amount due 
for future employee retirement benefits. The liabilities are paid incrementally over future fiscal 
years.   

 
Deferred inflows of resources are a separate financial statement element that represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until then. The deferred inflows reported on the statement of 
net position are related to pensions (see Note E to the financial statements). 
 
 
 

2023 2022 
Assets $ 62,529,826 $ 65,869,279 
Deferred outflows of resources 1,957,017 2,238,695 
Current liabilities 57,696,876 (61,133,986)
Long-term liabilities (1,616,031) (1,875,198)
Deferred inflows of resources (3,389,677) (3,149,191)
Unrestricted Net Position $ 1,784,259 $ 1,949,599 
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SUMMARY OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION FROM OPERATING RESULTS 

 

 
With the exception of accrued pension and OPEB, these expenditures represent the costs to 
support the core administrative operations of the Trust, which include finance, accounting, 
contract management, development and donor relations, payroll and benefit administration. 
The accrued expenses are not actual cash outlays for the fiscal year. The actuarial valuations 
and related accounting entries for these items are closely tied to market factors – specifically 
the rate of return and market value of the New York State Common Retirement Fund (Fund) 
managed by the Office of the State Comptroller – as well as other actuarial rating factors 
specific to the NHT’s payroll demographic and the discount rate. Due to its size, the valuation 
of the Fund is always lagged by a year, so the figures are based on the Fund’s March 31, 2022 
valuation, which was at all-time high for the Fund.   
 
Salary, fringe benefits, professional, and office supply expenses were all similar compared to 
last year. Contributed goods and services recognizes the contributed services provided by the 
New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation (OPRHP) and is offset by 
an equal amount of expenses (generally, this reflects the office space provided).    
 
 

2023 2022 
Investment income $ 641,726 $ 487,218 
Indirect fringe benefit income 264,129 54,681 
Administrative income 268,003 285,650 
Unrealized gains (losses) on (713,729) (1,216,985)
Realized gains (losses) on investments (8,338) 68,972 
Contributed goods and services 17,034 13,657 
Miscellaneous Income 5,245 3,546 

Total Revenues 474,070 (303,261)

Salary and payroll related costs 545,967 539,329 
Accrued change in unused vacation 2,425 (15,253)
Fringe benefit costs 236,215 225,320 
Accrued pension expense (benefit) (78,385) (261,676)
Professional fees 61,542 54,695 
Bank investment fees and service 53,177 46,948 
Contributed salaries and overhead 17,034 13,657 
Travel 3,455 1,754 
Office supplies and postage 40,385 35,758 
Accrued OPEB expense (benefit) (249,642) (518,410)
Miscellaneous 7,237 2,557 

Total Expenditures 639,410 124,679 

Deficiency of revenues over (165,340) (427,940)

Net position at beginning of year 1,949,599 2,377,539 
Net position at end of year $ 1,784,259 $ 1,949,599 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE FIDUCIARY FUND 
 
The fiduciary fund represents monies held in trust for restricted purposes in concert with the 
Trust's partner agencies and other organizations. Below is a summary of the net position and 
the revenues, expenditures and change in net position for the years ended March 31, 2023 
and 2022. 
 
 

SUMMARY OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION – FIDUCIARY FUND 

 
 

 
Included in the fiduciary fund is the 17 park or site-specific endowments managed by the 
Trust. The market value of these permanent endowments was $31.8 million, a decrease of 
about $2.4 million compared to 2022. The decline is consistent with similar decreases 
experienced in the major global capital markets. The remaining assets of the fiduciary fund 
continue to support a wide variety of environmental, recreational, historic, and cultural 
programming and projects statewide. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2023 2022
Assets $ 57,803,936 $ 61,226,530

Liabilities $ 427,653 $ 434,250
Net Assets Held in Trust 57,376,283 60,792,280
Fiduciary Net Position Held in Trust $ 57,803,936 $ 61,226,530
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SUMMARY OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN NET POSITION - FIDUCIARY FUND 

 

 
 
Overall, fiduciary revenue was down compared to last year, mostly attributable to 1) a single 
large foundation grant received for a major capital project received in 2022, and 2) the 
unrealized losses on the endowments this year. Restricted gifts and grants, program 
sponsorships, project activity fees and investment income totaled approximately $15.4 million 
for the fiscal year ended March 31,2023. The Trust received more than double the amount of 
program and sponsorship income compared to last year, as pandemic restrictions on public 
events and programming continued to phase out.  
     
Expenses related to fiduciary fund activities totaled approximately $16.3 million, about $1 
million more compared to 2022 and is primarily due to continued progress and completion of 
large capital projects and more program offerings. Activity, event and program spending were 
higher and generally more consistent with typical pre-covid program spending levels.    
 
 
Requests for Information 
 
The accompanying financial statements are designed to provide readers with a general 

2023 2022 
Additions
Gifts, donations and private grants $ 8,643,438 $ 17,545,383 
Grants and contracts 4,042,081 3,472,782 
Activity and program income 1,211,698 585,294 
Mitigation and environmental benefits 540,924 560,160 
Investment income 624,642 476,860 
Sponsorship and advertising 359,344 100,450 
Realized gains (losses) on investments (166,134) 218,787 
Unrealized Gains (losses) on investments (2,468,455) (310,074)
Other revenue 92,218 37,994 

12,879,756 22,687,636 

Expenditures
Capital construction and maintenance 7,377,198 8,029,062 
Program support and personnel $ 5,418,637 $ 4,830,551 
Activity and event support 2,036,749 1,456,824 
Gift reassignment 967,903 498,221 
Professional services 158,358 241,995 
Promotional materials 140,231 161,881 
Miscellaneous 196,677 137,785 

16,295,753 15,356,319 

Change in net position (3,415,997) 7,331,317 

Net position at beginning of year 60,792,280 53,460,963 
Net position at end of year $ 57,376,283 $ 60,792,280 
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overview of the Trust’s finances and to demonstrate the Trust’s accountability for the revenue 
it receives.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report, or any 
request for additional information, should be addressed to the Executive Director, Natural 
Heritage Trust, Albany, NY 12238. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Trustees and Audit Committee 
Natural Heritage Trust 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accomp nying financial statements of Natural Heritage Trust (the 
"Trust"), a component un  of the State of New York, as of and for the year ended March 31, 
2023, and the related notes to he financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Trust’s basic financia  statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the finan  statements eferred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position f e Tru  as of March 31, 2023, and the changes in 
financial position, and its cash lows f  th  year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the Un ted States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with a iting s andards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applic ble to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Compt oller General of the United States. 
Our responsibilities under those standards e furt er des ribed in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section f our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Trust and to meet our other ethic l responsibilities, in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to o  audit. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropri te to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there 
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial 
statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt 
shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise profession  jud ment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

 Identify and a sess the sks o  material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to f ud  erro  and design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks. Such pro dures nclude examining, on a test basis, evidence 
regarding the amounts a d dis losur s in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of in ernal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are app opriate i  th  circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on th  ffect eness of the Trust’s internal control. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is express d  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accoun ng p cies us d and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by man gement  as well as evaluate the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions  even s, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Tr st’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and 
certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 1-7 and the budgetary comparison 
information and other schedules on pages 31-34, be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing 
the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  
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We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit 
of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The 
other information comprises the Annual Report of the Trust as defined by Section 2800 of 
the New York State Public Authorities Law, Annual Reports by Authorities, but does not 
include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the 
basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an 
opinion or any form of assur ce thereon. 

In connection with our udit of t e basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the 
other information and the basi  finan ial statements, or the other information otherwise 
appears to be materially mis ated  f, b sed on the work performed, we conclude that an 
uncorrected material misstateme  of the other information exists, we are required to 
describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Gove nment Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditin  S andar s, we have also issued our report dated 
DATE, on our consideration of the Trust’s int r al contr l over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisio s of la s, r gulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose  that eport is to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reportin  and omplian e and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an i te ral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Trust's 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

Albany, New York 
DATE
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Statement of Net Position

March 31, 2023

ASSETS
   Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,501,573
   Investments 59,998,310
   Interest receivable 139,244
   Net pension asset 890,699

TOTAL ASSETS 62,529,826     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RES URCES
   Pension related 1,957,017

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
   Accounts payable and accrued expenses 142,576
   Due to fiduciary fund 57,554,300

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 57,696,876     

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
   Net OPEB obligation 1,616,031       

TOTAL LIABILI IES 59,312,907     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
   Pension related 3,389,677

NET POSITION
   Unrestricted 1,784,259

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 1,784,259       

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position

For the Year Ended March 31, 2023

OPERATING REVENUES
Investment income, net $ 641,726          
Indirect income, net 264,129          
Administrative income 268,003          
Contributed goods and services 17,034 
Realized loss on investments (8,338) 
Unrealized loss on investments (713,729)         
Miscellaneous income 5,245 

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 474,070          

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salary and payroll related costs 545,967          
Accrued value of unused vacation 2,425 
Fringe benefit costs 236,215          
Professional fees 61,542 
Office supplies and postage 40,385 
Bank investment fees and service charges 53,177 
Contributed salaries and overhead 17,034 
Travel 3,455 
Net pension benefit (78,385)           
Net other post retirement benefit (249,642)         
Other program expenses 7,237 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 639,410          

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (165,340)         

NET POSITION, beginning of year 1,949,599       

NET POSITION, end of year $ 1,784,259       

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended March 31, 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Proceeds from fiduciary activities $ 14,389,768     
   Proceeds from administrative income 268,003          
   Proceeds from indirect fringe benefits 264,129          
   Proceeds from miscellaneous income 5,245 
   Payments for fiduciary activities (16,074,534)    
   Payments for personnel expenses (791,244)         
   Payments for other operating expenses (122,832)         

CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (2,061,465)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INV STING ACTIV TIES
   Proceeds from withdrawa  of inve ments 2,433,000       
   Payments for purchase of investments (4,133,000)      

C H USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,700,000)      

NET DECRE SE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,761,465)      

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 5,263,038       

CASH AND CASH EQU ALENT  AT END OF YEAR $ 1,501,573       

RECONCILIATION OF CHANGE IN NET POSITION TO
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Change in net position $ (165,340)         
   Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
      used in operating activities: 
         Investment income, net (547,801)         
         Realized gains on investments 8,338 
         Unrealized loss on investments 713,729          
         Pension benefit (78,385)           
         Other Postemployment Benefit plan service benefit (217,571)         
   Changes in operating assets, liabilities, deferred outflows of
     resources and deferred inflows of resources:
      Accounts payable and accrued expenses 28,133 
      Due to fiduciary fund (1,470,822)      
      Deferred outflows of resources - pension related (299,675)         
      Net OPEB obligation (32,071)           

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (2,061,465)      

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

March 31, 2023

ASSETS
   Accounts receivable $ 249,636
   Due from the Trust 57,554,300

TOTAL ASSETS $ 57,803,936     

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION HELD IN TRUST

LIABILITIES
   Accounts payable and accrued expe ses $ 103,972          
   Accrued payroll and rela ed item 323,681          

TOTAL LIABILITIES 427,653          

NET POSITON HELD IN TRUST 57,376,283     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND T POSI ION HELD IN TRUST $ 57,803,936     

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

For the Year Ended March 31, 2023

ADDITIONS
   Gifts, donations and private grants $ 8,643,438       
   Grants and contracts 4,042,081       
   Activity and program income 1,211,698       
   Investment income 624,642          
   Mitigation and environmental benefits 540,924          
   Sponsorship and advertising 359,344          
   Realized losses on investments (166,134)         
   Unrealized losses on investm nts (2,468,455)      
   Other revenue 92,218

TOTAL ADDITIONS 12,879,756     

PROGRAM EXPENSES
   Capital construction and maintena ce 7,377,198       
   Program support and personnel 5,418,637       
   Activity and event support 2,036,749       
   Gift reassignment 967,903          
   Professional services 158,358          
   Promotional materials and merchandise for resale 140,231          
   Miscellaneous 196,677          

TOTAL ROG AM EXPENSES 16,295,753     

CHANGE IN NET POSITION HELD IN TRUS (3,415,997)      

Net position held in trust at beginning of year 60,792,280     

NET POSITION HELD IN TRUST AT END OF YEAR $ 57,376,283     

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements 

March 31, 2023 

NOTE A--ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Organization 
Natural Heritage Trust (the “Trust”), a public benefit corporation, was created in 1968 under 
Article 55 of the New York State Arts and Cultural Affairs Law to receive and administer 
private gifts, grants, devises and bequests of real and personal property donated to further 
conservation, outdoor recreation and historic preservation and to cooperate with other 
public and private organizations with interests in appropriate projects intended to preserve 
and improve the natural nd historic preservation of resources of New York State and 
advance public understa ding, evitalization, and restoration of New York’s waterfronts. 
The Trust is administe ed at the rection of the Board of Directors (“Board”) comprised of 
the Commissioner  the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic 
Preservation, Chair of he Sta e Co n l of Parks, Commissioner of the New York State 
Department of Environm al Co serva on and Secretary of State.  The Trust is a 
component unit of the State of New York fo  financial reporting purposes and is included in 
the State’s basic financial stat ments. 

A summary of the Trust’s significant a counting li ies follows: 

Basis of Presentation 
The financial statements of the Trust are prepa d in ac ordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America U.S. AAP).  The Trust applies all 
relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements.   

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to the Tr t is determined by its 
measurement focus.  The transactions of the Trust are accounted or o  a flow of economic 
resources measurement focus.  With this measurement foc s, all assets and liabilities 
associated with operations are included in the statement f net position with revenues 
recorded when earned and expenses recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.     

Net position is classified into three components – net investment in capital assets; 
restricted; and unrestricted.  These classifications are defined as follows:  

Net investment in capital assets:  This component of net position consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated amortization, reduced by 
the outstanding balances of bonds, notes, and other borrowings that are attributable 
to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.  If there are 
significant unspent related debt proceeds at year end, the portion of the debt 
attributable to the unspent proceeds is not included in the calculation of investment 
in capital assets, net of related debt.  Rather that portion of the debt is included in 
restricted net position.  The Trust did not have any net investment in capital assets 
at March 31, 2023. 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
 
Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 
 
 
 
NOTE A--ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES--Continued 

 
Restricted net position:  This component of net position represents external 
restrictions on net position imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, laws or 
regulations of other governments and restrictions imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  The Trust did not have any 
restricted net position at March 31, 2023. 
 
Unrestricted net position:  This component represents net position that does not 
meet the definition of "restricted" or "net investment in capital assets." 

 
The Trust would typically use re tricted resources first, as appropriate opportunities arise, 
but reserves the right o selectiv y spend unrestricted resources first to defer the use of 
these other restricted resources. 
 
The Trust distinguishes peratin  reve ues and expenses from nonoperating items.  
Operating revenues and expens s eneral  result from providing services in connection 
with the Trust’s principal ong ng ope tio s.  All revenue and expenses that do not meet 
this definition are reported as nonope ting revenues and expenses. 
 
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements 
 
This fund is used to account for assets held by t e Trust n  trustee capacity for individuals, 
private organizations, and other governmenta  units   Fiduc ary fund financial statements 
are presented using the flow of economic resour s measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting.  The Trust reports the followi g fiduci ry fund  
 

Private-Purpose Trust Funds 
 

Private-purpose trust funds represent grants and pro ams and activities established 
for a definite purpose in concert with the Trust’s partner agencies and other 
organizations.  These trust funds generate revenue and expenditures that are 
administered by the Trust and are subject to oversight by the Trust.  As of March 31, 
2023, the Trust held funds received through relationships with its partner agencies 
and organizations for approximately 205 different programs and projects.  The five 
(5) largest trust fund accounts in terms of revenue accounted for approximately 53% 
of all restricted funds for the year ended March 31, 2023.  The five (5) largest trust 
fund accounts in terms of expenditures incurred 37% of program expenses for the 
same period. 

 
Use of Estimates 
Management of the Trust has made estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE A--ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES--Continued 

Restricted Gifts, Grants and Other Funds  
The Trust receives gifts, grants and other raised funds from outside organizations, including 
government entities that are restricted for specific purposes. 

Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and are carried at their estimated collectible 
amounts.  Accounts receivable are periodically evaluated for collectability based on a review 
of outstanding receivables, historical collection information and current economic conditions. 
In the opinion of Trust ma agement, all receivables are collectible, accordingly, no 
allowance for doubtful ac ounts h s been recorded. 

Investments 
Investments are recorded at f  val e.  Investments received by gift are recorded at fair 
value at the date of the gi  

Fair Value Measurements 
The Trust records fair value adjustme ts to certain assets and liabilities in accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurem nt and Application (GASB 72).  GASB 72 
establishes a fair value hierarchy tha  prio i zes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value.  This hierarchy con ists of th ee broad levels:  Level 1 inputs consist of 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets r ident cal assets and have the highest 
priority, Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted market prices that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirect y, a d L vel 3 inputs are unobservable and 
generally consist of assumptions and are developed using the bes  information available in 
the circumstances and have the lowest priority.  When available, e Trust measures fair 
value using Level 1 inputs because they generally provide the m t rel able evidence of fair 
value.  Level 3 inputs are only used when Level 1 or Level 2 inp ts are not available.   

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position reports a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element represents a consumption 
of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense) until then.  The Trust reports deferred outflows related to pensions in 
the Statement of Net Position.  The types of deferred outflows related to pensions are 
described in Note F. In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes 
report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial 
statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period 
and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The Trust 
reports deferred inflows related to pensions in the Statement of Net Position.  The types of 
deferred inflows related to pensions are described in Note F. 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
 
Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 
 
 
 
NOTE A--ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES--Continued 
 
Tax Status 
The Trust has been granted tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code.  The Trust qualifies for the charitable contribution deduction for individual 
donors.  The Trust does not conduct unrelated business income activities and, therefore, 
has made no provision for income taxes in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Management has evaluated the Trust’s tax positions, including interest and penalties 
attributable thereto, and concluded that the Trust has taken no tax positions that required 
adjustment in its financial s atements as of March 31, 2023. 
 
The Trust’s informatio  return fili gs are subject to examinations by the Internal Revenue 
Service.  The Trust i  no longer ubject to examinations for the years ending before March 
31, 2020, and curren y, ther  are o examinations in process nor has the Trust been 
informed of any pending e minati ns. 
 
New Accounting Standards Ad pted 
During the year ended March 31, 202 , the Trust implemented GASB No. 87, Leases (GASB 
87). GASB 87 enhances the relev nce and o sistency of information related to a 
government’s leasing activities.  The requi ement  of GASB 87 are based on the principle 
that leases represent the financing of the rig t to use and underlying nonfinancial asset.  A 
lessee is required to recognize a lease liability nd an nt ngible right-to-use lease asset, 
and a lessor is required to recognize a lease r ceivab e and deferred inflows of resources. 
The adoption of GASB 87 did not have a mater al impac  on the Trust’s financial statements 
and did not result in any reclassifications or rest tements of net position or changes in net 
position. 
 
Subsequent Events 
The Trust evaluates transactions that occur subsequent to ye r end for potential recognition 
or disclosure in the financial statements through the date on which the financial statements 
are available to be issued.  The financial statements were available to be issued on DATE.   
 
 
NOTE B--CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost plus accrued interest.  Nearly all cash and 
cash equivalents needed for short-term check writing purposes are maintained at one 
financial institution.  
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE B--CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS--Continued 

Cash and cash equivalents are maintained in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) 
insured accounts and may at times exceed FDIC insurance limits.  The Trust has written 
agreements with the financial institutions for the collateralization of funds in excess of FDIC 
insurance coverage limits. 

At March 31, 2023, the book amount of the Trust’s deposits was $1,501,573 and the related 
bank balance was $1,581,848.  The total amount of collateralized uninsured deposits was 
approximately $1,097,040 for the year ended March 31, 2023. 

NOTE C--INVESTMEN S 

The Trust has adopted an inve tmen  p licy in accordance with the NYS Public Authorities 
Law and rules and regula ns of he St te of New York Office of the State Comptroller 
(“OSC”).  The Trust’s written nv stment policy has been approved by the Board of 
Directors.  Cash, cash equiv ents a d i vestments in the Trust’s investment accounts 
consists of the following at March 31, 023: 

Cost Market

Corporate and Government Bond Funds   18 324,964  $ 16,494,997 
Closed-end Equity Mutual Funds  14,126,848  13,888,092 
Corporate and Foreign Bonds 10,584 610 10,066,923 
U.S. Treasury Obligations  9,374,2 2  9,188,363 
International Closed-end Funds 8,072 001 7,082,209 
Cash and Money Market Funds 1 723,028 1,723,028 
U.S. Government Agencies  ,600,313  1,554,698 

 $ 63,806,006  $ 59,998,310 

The estimated fair values of the Trust’s financial instruments, none of which are held for 
trading purposes, are as follows: 

Carrying 
Amount Level 1 Level 2 

Corporate and Government Bond 
Funds $ 16,494,997 $ 16,494,997 $ - 
Closed-end Equity Mutual Funds  13,888,092  13,888,092 - 
Corporate and Foreign Bonds 10,066,923 - 10,066,923
U.S. Treasury Obligations  9,188,363  9,188,363 - 
International Closed-end Funds 7,082,209 7,082,208 - 
Cash and Money Market Funds 1,723,028 1,723,028 - 
U.S. Government Agencies  1,554,698  1,554,698 - 

$ 59,998,310  $ 49,931,387  $ 10,066,923 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE C--INVESTMENTS--Continued 

Corporate and foreign bonds consist of the following at March 31, 2023: 

Cost Market
3M Company $   262,617   $   240,333 
Amazon  99,825   93,041 
Bank of Nova Scotia   252,768    230,533 
Bank of NY Mellon   403,515    394,930 
Bank of Montreal   357,226    327,807 
Bristol‐Myers Squibb Co.    410,354    393,115 
Canadian Imperial Bank   249,865    242,073 
Caterpillar Financial Serv ces   354,307    329,968 
Charles Schwab Corp   353,701    343,220 
Cisco Systems   263,137    241,820 
Citibank   101,044   98,629 
Entergy LA LLC   337,705    329,696 
Diageo Capital PLC   278,134    278,561 
Duke Energy Florida LLC   195,044    186,024 
Fifth Third Bank   337,377    307,440 
Florida Power and Light Co.    260,343    242,127 
General Dynamics   204,365    196,653 
Gilead Sciences, Inc.   299,504    294,981 
Glaxosmithkline Capital   300,000    293,358 
Hershey Co.   150,1 7    138,495 
Home Depot, Inc   36 475    339,301 
Honeywell International    02,549    187,654 
Huntington National Bank   456,058    441,819 
Illinois Tools Works Inc.   347,173    335,960 
John Deere   367,257    344,348 
JP Morgan   240,193    236,902 
KeyBank   150,000    147,363 
Morgan Stanley   276,994    268,848 
Merck & Co Inc.   255,113    244,797 
PepsiCo.    313,912    290,310 
Procter and Gamble   261,804    241,885 
Royal Bank of Canada   307,471    290,235 
Target Corp   256,729    240,187 
Toronto‐Dominion Bank   311,501    299,839 
Toyota Motor Credit Corp   349,622    335,076 
Truist Financial Corp   100,878   95,455 

DRAFT



22 

NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE C—INVESTMENTS--Continued 

Westpac Banking Corp   295,606    285,837 
Wisconsin Electric Power 251,327 238,303
  $ 10,584,610 $     10,066,923 

The Trust has established individual investment policy statements for Operating Accounts, 
Capital Project/Reserve Accounts and Long-Term Investment Accounts.  The investment 
policy statements having the following credit quality ratings from a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization (NRSRO) for the following investment categories: 

Operating 
Accounts  

Capital 
Project/Reserve 

Accounts  

Long-Term 
Investment 
Accounts 

Corporate Bonds BBB/Baa  BBB/Baa  BBB/Baa 
Commercial Paper A1/P1 A1/P1 A1/P1 
Taxable Municipal Bonds A BBB/Baa BBB/Baa 
Money Market Funds AAAm AAAm AAAm 
Mutual Funds and Exchange  
   Traded Funds A  BBB/Baa  BBB/Baa 

The individual investment policy statements st blish minimums and maximums that may 
be invested in fixed income, equities and ca h hold ng   The policy statements also 
establish limits within the fixed income investments f  conce tration of investments within 
the portfolio. 

NOTE D--DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS 

All private purpose trust fund revenue is deposited into t e Trust cash and investment 
accounts.  These monies are held and invested in the Trust accounts until disbursements 
are requested by the authorized signatory.  Accordingly, outstanding balances between the 
Trust and the fiduciary fund are reported as “due to/from” the respective financial 
statements. 

NOTE E--LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

Long-term liability balances and activity for the year ended March 31, 2023 is as follows: 

Amounts
 Beginning  Ending  Due within
 Balance Additions  Deletions  Balance One Year 

OPEB Obligation $   1,865,673 $         - $   (249,642) $   1,616,031 $              - 
Pension liability 9,525  - (9,525) -  - 

$   1,875,198 $         - $   (259,167) $   1,616,031 $         -
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE F--PENSION PLAN 

The Trust participates in the New York State and Local Employee’s Retirement System 
(NYSERS).  This is a cost sharing multiple-employer retirement system, providing 
retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits.  The net position of the NYSERS 
is held in the New York State Common Retirement Fund (the Fund), established to hold all 
net position and record changes in plan net position allocated to the NYSERS.  The NYSERS 
benefits are established under the provisions of the New York State Retirement and Social 
Security law.  Once an employer elects to participate in the NYSERS, the election is 
irrevocable. 

The New York State C nstituti n provides that pension membership is a contractual 
relationship and plan benefits can ot be diminished or impaired.  Benefits can be changed 
for future members only by en ctment of State statute.  The system issues a publicly 
available financial rep rt that nclud s financial statements and required supplementary 
information. That report m y be fo nd at ww.osc.state.ny.us/retire/publications/index.php 
or obtained by writing to the New York S ate and Local Retirement System, 110 State 
Street, Albany, NY 12244-000  

NYSERS is noncontributory for emplo ees who j ned NYSERS prior to July 27, 1976.  For 
employees who joined NYSERS after July 27  1976  and prior to January 1, 2010, employees 
contribute 3% of their salary, except that employ es in NYSERS for more than ten years are 
no longer required to contribute.  Employees t at join Y ERS after January 1, 2010 and 
prior to April 1, 2012 are required to contribute 3% o  their s laries throughout their active 
membership.  Employees that join after April 1, 20 2 a e required to contribute 3% to 6% 
of their salaries, depending on their salaries, thro ghout their activ  membership. 

The Trust is required to contribute at an actuarially determine  rate.  The Trust 
contributions made to NYSERS were equal to 100% of the cont butions required each year. 
The required contributions for the current year and two prece ing years were: 

At March 31, 2023, the Trust reported a net pension asset of $890,699 for its proportionate 
share of the NYSERS net pension asset.  The net pension asset was measured as of March 
31, 2022, and the total pension asset used to calculate the net pension asset was 
determined by the actuarial valuation as of that date.  The Trust’s proportion of the net 
pension asset was based on a projection of the Trust’s long-term share of contributions to 
the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating members, 
actuarially determined. 

As of March 31, 2023, the Trust’s proportion was 0.0108960%. 

March 31, 2023 $ 349,599 
March 31, 2022 $ 286,046 
March 31, 2021 $ 314,005 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE F--PENSION PLAN--Continued 

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Trust recognized pension income of $78,385.  At 
March 31, 2023, the Trust reported deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources Related 
to Pensions 

 Deferred
Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

Differences between expect d and a tual experience $ 67,454 $ 87,492 
Changes of assumptions 1,486,477 25,083 
Net difference between p ojected an  actual earnings on 
   pension plan investment  -   2,916,667
Changes in proportion and diff ences etwee  the Trust’s 
   contributions and proportionate share of cont butions  103,411  360,435 
Contributions subsequent to the measure ent date 299,675 - 

 $ 1,957,017 $ 3,389,677

The Trust recognized $299,675 as def ed ou flow of resources related to pensions 
resulting from contributions made subsequent to he measurement date of March 31, 2022, 
which will be recognized as a reduction of the n t pens n ability in the year ended March 
31, 2024. 

The other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense  follows: 

Year Ending March 31: 
2023 $ (336,983)
2024  (420,612)
2025  (812,661)
2026  (162,079)
2027 -

$ (1,732,335)

The total pension asset at March 31, 2022 (measurement date) was determined using an 
actuarial valuation as of April 1, 2021, with update procedures used to roll forward the total 
pension liability to March 31, 2022.   
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE F--PENSION PLAN--Continued 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The actuarial valuation used the following actuarial assumptions: 

Measurement Date March 31, 2022 
Actuarial Valuation Date April 1, 2021 
Inflation 2.7%
Salary scale 4 4 % indexed by service 
Projected COLAs 1. % compounded annually 
Decrements Deve oped from the Plan’s 2020 experience study of the 

period April 1, 2015 through March 31, 2020. 
Mortality improveme  Socie y of Actuaries Scale MP-2020 
Investment rate of retu n 5.9% comp unded annually, net of investment expense 

The long-term rate of return on pe sion p an investments was determined in accordance 
with Actuarial Standard of Pra tice (A OP) No. 27, Selection of Economic Assumptions for 
Measuring Pension Obligations.  ASOP No. 27 provides guidance on the selection of an 
appropriate assumed investment rate of return   o sideration was given to expected future 
real rates of return (expected returns  net f pensi n plan investment expense and inflation) 
for equities and fixed income as well as histor cal nvestment data and plan performance. 

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of retur  for ch major asset class included in the 
target asset allocation as of March 31, 2022, are summ ized below: 

Asset Type 

Target 
Allocations 

in % 

L g-Term 
xpec d real 

ate of return in 
% 

Domestic Equity 32.0 3.30 
International Equity 15.0 5.85 
Private Equity 10.0 6.50 
Real Estate 9.0 5.00 
Opportunistic/ARS Portfolio 3.0 4.10 
Credit  4.0  3.78
Real Assets 3.0 5.58 
Fixed Income 23.0 0.00 
Cash  1.0 -1.00

100%
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE F--PENSION PLAN--Continued 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to calculate the total pension liability was 5.9 percent. The projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that contributions from plan 
members will be made at the current contribution rates and that contributions from 
employers will be made at statutorily required rates, actuarially. Based upon the 
assumptions, the System’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on en ion plan investments was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to dete mine th  total pension liability. 

Sensitivity of the P oportionate Share of the New Pension Liability to the Discount 
Rate Assumption 

The following presents the Trus s proporti nate share of the net pension liability (asset) 
calculated using the discount ate of 9%  as well as what the Trust’s proportionate share 
of the net pension liability (asset) wou d be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 
1% lower (4.9%) or 1% higher (6.9%  than the ur ent rate: 

1%  
Decrease 
(4.9%) 

 Current 
iscount  

(5 9%) 

1%
Increase 
(6.9%) 

Proportionate share of net 
pension liability (asset) $ 2,292,650  $ (890,6 9)  $ (3,553,417) 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

The components of the current-year net pension liability o  the employers participating in 
the New York State and Local Employees Retirement System as of the March 31, 2022 
measurement date were as follows (in thousands of dollars): 

Total pension liability $ 223,874,888 
Net position (232,049,473) 
Net pension asset  $ (8,174,585) 
NYSERS net position as a percentage of total pension liability 103.65% 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
 
Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 
 
 
 
NOTE G--OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) OBLIGATION 
 
General Information about the OPEB Plan 
 
Plan description – The Trust’s defined benefit OPEB Plan, the Natural Heritage Trust Retiree 
Health Reimbursement Arrangement Plan (NHT HRA), provides other postemployment 
benefits for all employees hired prior to December 31, 2017 who have, at the time of 
retirement, earned 10 or more years of continuous creditable service time with the Trust, 
and has met the age and vesting requirements to receive benefits from the New York State 
Employee Retirement System or the New York State Voluntary Defined Contribution Plan.  
The NHT HRA is a single em lo er plan administered by the Trust.   
 
In addition, the Tru t provide  other postemployment healthcare benefits to two 
grandfathered empl yees who eceive benefits through the New York State Health 
Insurance Program (N SHIP).  enef s provided through NYSHIP are considered part of a 
single employer plan admi tered by the rust.  Non-grandfathered Trust employees are no 
longer eligible for other postempl yment he thcare benefits through the NYSHIP.    
 
No assets are accumulated in a tru t that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB 
Statement 75. 
 
Benefits provided – The NHT HRA plan pro ide  for the reimbursement of out-of-pocket 
medical, dental, vision and long-term care e enses n urred by the retiree and their 
dependents.  The plan will provide an annua  cont bution between $4,800 and $9,600 
depending on the retiree’s years of service.  Reti ee enefits continue for the life of the 
retiree.  In the event of the retiree’s death, the urviving spouse benefits will continue for 
the life of the surviving spouse.  The surviving spouse will rece e 50% of the annual 
contribution made while the retiree was alive.  The Trust reser es th  right to amend or 
cancel the plan. 
 
The two grandfathered employees who receive healthcare coverage through NYSHIP are 
provided with health insurance coverage through plans offered by NYSHIP (NYSHIP Empire 
Plan and Capital District PHP Plan) that continue for the life of the retiree and surviving 
spouse.  Retirees are required to contribute 10% of the single person premium and 25% of 
the difference between the single person and family coverage premium for dependents.  
Surviving spouses are required to make the same contribution percentage that was made 
when the retiree was alive. 
 
The Trust supports the annual OPEB cost on an ongoing basis with indirect fringe benefit 
income assessed on those program accounts with payroll expenses, over the actual fringe 
benefit amounts paid out by the Trust.   
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE G--OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) OBLIGATION--Continued 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms   

At March 31, 2022, the following employees or beneficiaries were covered by the benefit 
terms: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments 5 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments 0 
Active employees 13 

18 

The plan is closed to al  employee  hired after December 31, 2017. 

Total OPEB Liability 

The Trust’s total OPEB liability o  $1 616,03  was measured as of March 31, 2023 and was 
determined by an actuarial v luation   April 1, 2022.  The alternative measurement 
method was used to calculate the OPE  liability. 

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Tr  reco nized OPEB benefit of $189,424. 

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 

The total OPEB liability as of March 31, 2023 was dete mined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all per ods included in e measurement, unless 
otherwise specified: 

Inflation  2.50%
Salary increases 3.00% 
Discount rate 3.78% 
Healthcare cost trend rates – Medical 4.5% for 2023, decreasing to an ultimate trend 

rate of 4.04% for 2075 and later years. 
Healthcare cost trend rates – 
Prescription Drug 

6.5% for 2023, decreasing to an ultimate trend 
rate of 4.04% for 2075 and later years.  

Retirees’ share of benefit-related costs 100% of projected health insurance premiums for 
retirees.  Grandfathered employees pay 10% of 
single coverage and 25% of the cost difference 
between single and family coverage for 
dependents. 

The discount rate was based on an analysis of returns on the Fidelity General Obligation 20-
Year AA Municipal Bond Index as of March 31, 2023. 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
 
Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 
 
 
 
NOTE G--OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) OBLIGATION--Continued 
 
Mortality rates for active employees, healthy retirees, and contingent survivors were based 
on the MP-2021 mortality improvement scale released in October 2022 which reflects the 
U.S. population mortality experience through 2020.  
 
Changes in Total OPEB Liability 
 
 Total OPEB 

Liability 
Balance at March 31, 2022 $   1,865,673 
Changes for the year:  
    Service cost 13,992 
    Interest 52,342 
    Differences between xpecte  and c ual experience  
     and changes in assump ons or ther in uts (255,758) 
    Benefit payments (60,218) 
          Net changes (249,642) 
Balance at March 31, 2023 $   1,616,031 
 
Changes of assumptions and other inp  refl ct a change in the discount rate and 
Healthcare cost trend rates for the year ended March 31, 2023.  The discount rate was 
updated from 2.83% as of March 31, 2022 to 3. 8% as f March 31, 2023.   
 
The healthcare trend rate remained consistent at 4.5% for medical. The healthcare trend 
rate for prescription drug use updated from 7% as of March 31, 2 22 to 6.5% as of March 
31, 2023. 
 
The change in assumptions resulted in a decrease in the Total PEB Liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Trust, as well as what the Trust’s total 
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower (2.78%) 
or 1% higher (4.78%) than the current discount rate: 
 

  1%  
Decrease 
(2.78%) 

 Current 
Discount  
(3.78%) 

 1% 
Increase 
(4.78%) 

Total OPEB Liability  $ 1,889,420  $ 1,616,031  $ 1,398,606 
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Notes to Financial Statements--Continued 

NOTE G--OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) OBLIGATION--Continued 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend 
Rates 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the Trust, as well as what the Trust’s total 
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1% 
lower (3.5%) or 1% higher (5.5%) than the current healthcare cost trend rates: 

1% 
Decrease 

(3.5% 
decr as ng to 

3.04%

Healthcare 
Cost Trend 

Rates 
(4.5% 

decreasing to 
4.04%)

1% 
Increase 
(5.5% 

decreasing to 
5.04%) 

Total OPEB Liability  $ 1,545,587  $ 1,616,031  $ 1,698,554 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position - Budget to Actual

For the Year Ended March 31, 2023

REVENUES
   Investment income, net $ 5 ,000       - $ 500,000       $ 641,726       $ - $ 641,726       $ 141,726       
   Indirect fringe benefit income 45,000         - 45,000 264,129       - 264,129 219,129       
   Administrative income 275,000       - 275,000 268,003       - 268,003 (6,997)         
   Realized losses on investments - - - - (8,338)         (8,338) (8,338)         
   Unrealized losses on investments - - - - (713,729)     (713,729) (713,729)     
   Contributed goods and services   - - 17,034         17,034         17,034         
   Miscellaneous income - - - - 5,245          5,245          5,245          

820,000       - 820,000 1,173,858    (699,788)     474,070       (345,930)     

EXPENDITURES
   Salaries and payroll related costs 550,000       - 5 0,000 545,967       - 545,967 4,033          
   Accrued value of unused vacation -  - - 2,425          2,425 (2,425)         
   Fringe benefit costs 238,000        38,000 236,215       - 236,215 1,785          
   Contributed salaries and overhead - - - - 17,034         17,034 (17,034)       
   Net pension benefit - -  - (78,385)       (78,385) 78,385         
   Net other post retirement benefit - - - - (249,642)     (249,642) 249,642       
   Bank investment fees and service charges 45,000         - ,00 53,177         - 53,177 (8,177)         
   Professional fees 55,000         - 55,000 61 542         - 61,542 (6,542)         
   Office supplies and postage 40,000         - 40,000 40,3 5         - 40,385 (385) 
   Travel 5,000          - 5,000 3 5          - 3,455 1,545          
   Huttleston program 5,000          - 5,000 - - - 5,000          
   Other program expenses 2,000          - 2,000 7,237          - 7,237 (5,237)         

940,000       - 940,000 947,978       (308,568)     639,410       300,590       

EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES $ (120,000)     $ - $ (120,000)     $ 225,880       $ (391,220)     $ (165,340)     $ (45,340)       

See independent auditor's report.

Total

(Unfavorable)ActualUnbudgetedBudgeted

Total
Actual Total Favorable/

Variance

Budget
Original Revised Actual

Revisions Budget

31

DRAFT



NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)

March 31, 2023

New York State Employees' Retirement System Plan 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Proportion of net pens on liability (asset) 0.0108960% 0.0095657% 0.0108336% 0.0121229% 0.0119344% 0.0103594% 0.0103427% 0.0122732%
Proportionate share of net pension liabil ty (asset) (890,699)$  9,525$       2,868,807$ 858,948$    385,177$    973,389$    1,660,040$ 414,618$    
Covered-employee payroll 3,881,353$ 609$ 3,115,714$ 2,928,680$ 3,233,186$ 3,430,527$ 2,626,717$ 2,729,006$ 
Proportionate share of net pension liability (asset) 
     as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll -22.95% 0.28 92.08% 29.33% 11.91% 28.37% 63.20% 15.19%
Plan fiduciary net pos tion as a percentage of the 
     total pens on liability (asset) 103 % 99.95% 86.39% 96.27% 98.24% 94.70% 90.68% 97.95%

See independent aud tor's report.

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Information for periods prior 
to the implementation of 

GASB 68 is unavailable and will 
be completed for each year 
going forward as information 

becomes available
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Schedule of Contributions - Pension Plans

March 31, 2023

New York State Employees' Retirement System Plan 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually required contribution 349,599$    286,046$    314,005$    362,131$    343,702$    318,502$    287,971$    494,651$    
Contribut ons in relation to the contractually 
     required contribution 349,599 046 314,005 362,131 343,702 318,502 287,971 494,651 
Contribut on deficiency (excess) -$  - -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

Agency's covered-employee payroll 3,881,35$ 3,415,609$ 3,115,714$ 2,928,680$ 3,233,186$ 3,430,527$ 2,626,717$ 2,729,006$ 
Contribut ons as a percentage of
     covered-employee payroll 01% 8.37% 10.08% 12.36% 10.63% 9.28% 10.96% 18.13%

See independent aud tor's report.

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Information for periods prior 
to the implementation of 
GASB 68 is unavailable and 
will be completed for each 

year going forward as 
information becomes 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST

Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

March 31, 2023

2023 2022 2021 2020 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Total OPEB Liability

Service cost 13,992$     18,934$     16,839$     25,530$     23,067$     21,124$     
Interest 52,342       863       54,827       82,306       91,186       91,144       
Changes of benef t terms -                        -            -            -            -            
Differences between expected and actual experience 
   and changes of assumpt ons or other inputs (255,75    (590,208    109,776     (228,574)    (166,413)    79,527       
Benef t payments (60 8)      (68,660      (38,689)      (44,591)      (30,919)      (42,664)      
Net change in total OPEB liabil ty (2 642)    (587,071    142,753     (165,329)    (83,079)      149,131     
Total OPEB liabil ty - beginning 1,865, 73   2,452,7   2 991   2,475,320   2,558,399   2,409,268   
Total OPEB liabil ty - ending 1,616,03$ 1,86 3$ 52, 4$ 2,309,991$ 2,475,320$ 2,558,399$ 

Covered-employee payroll 3,881,353$ 3,415,609$ 3,115,714 2,928,680$ 3,233,186$ 3,430,527$ 

Total OPEB liabil ty as a percentage of 
     covered-employee payroll 41.64% 54.62% 8. 78.87% 76.56% 74.58%

See independent aud tor's report.

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Information for periods prior to the implementation of 
GASB 75

is unavailable and will be completed for each year 
going forward 

as information becomes available
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND 

OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Directors  
Natural Heritage Trust 
Albany, New York 

We have audited, in accordanc  with the auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of Ameri a and t e st ndards applicable to the financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Stan ds iss ed by he Comptroller General of the United States, the 
financial statements of the Natur l H ritage Trust (the “Trust”) as of and for the year ended 
March 31, 2023, and the re ated n es o the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Trust’s basic financial s atements and have issued our report thereon dated 
DATE. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financia  Re orting 

In planning and performing our audit of the fin ncial tateme ts, we considered the Trust’s 
internal control over financial reporting (inte nal on ol) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circums ances f  the p rpose of expressing our 
opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expr sing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do ot e press an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not 
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material 
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there 
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency 
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, 
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to 
be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified.  
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Trust’s financial statements 
are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of 
our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part 
of an audit performed in ac ordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
Trust’s internal control a d comp iance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for 
any other purpose. 

Albany, New York 
DATE 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 
2925(3)(f) OF THE NEW YORK STATE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES LAW AND ON 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE BASED ON AN EXAMINATION PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Directors 
Natural Heritage Trust 

Report on Compliance with Section 2925(3)(F) of th  New York State Public 
Authorities Law 

We have examined Natural Heritage Trust’s (the Trust ) compliance with its own 
investment guidelines, and with the requirements o  Section 2925(3)(f) of the New York 
State (NYS) Public Authorities Law for the year en ed March 31, 20 3.  Management of the 
Trust is responsible for the compliance with the sp cified equirements.  Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Trust’s compliance wit  the specified requirements based on 
our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordan e wit  ttestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Ac ou tants and the standards applicable to 
attestation engagements contain  n Gove nment Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the Un ted S ates.  hose standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obta n rea nable assurance about whether the Trust complied, 
in all material respects, with the sp ified requirements referenced above.  An examination 
involves performing proc s to o ain evidence about whether the Trust complied with 
the specified requirements.  T e nat e, timing and extent of the procedures selected 
depend on our judgement, includ ng an assessment of the risks of material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud o  error.  We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a r asona le basis for our opinion.   

We are required to be independent and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to the examination engagement. 

Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the Trust’s compliance with 
specified requirements. 

In our opinion, the Trust complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended March 31, 2023. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the Trust is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the specified requirements referred to above. In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance with the specified requirements, we considered the 
Trust’s internal control over compliance with the specified requirements to determine the 
examination procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on compliance with the specified requirements, but not for the 
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purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance 
with the specified requirements. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control over compliance with the specified requirements. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a 
control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of 
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with 
the specified requirements on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with the 
specified requirements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with the specified requirements that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was fo  the limited purpose described 
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designe  to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in in ernal contr  over compliance that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. Howeve  material wea nesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that have not been identifie  
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of 
Directors of Natural Heritage Trust, the Ne  Y k State Office of the State Comptroller and 
the Authority Budget Office and is not intended to  and should not be, used for anyone 
other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
Albany, New York 
DATE 
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 NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
RESOLUTION # 2023-6 

 
Resolution for the Natural Heritage Trust to enter into Memorandum of Agreement 

with NYS Bridge Authority 
(Proposed June 28, 2023) 

 
WHEREAS, the TRUST is authorized by Article 55 of the State Arts and Cultural 
Affairs law to undertake research, studies, and reports, and to perform any work, 
including the furnishing of services required for historic programming, and other such 
work and services undertaken by the TRUST as may be performed by it in cooperation 
with other public and private agencies; and 
 
WHEREAS 2024 marks the 100th anniversary of the State Council of Parks, which 
forged the New York State Park system as it’s known today; and  
 
WHEREAS the Centennial celebration will commemorate 100 years of connections 
between New York State parks, historic sites, partners, and communities – and build 
public support for a vibrant, accessible, and welcoming park system for the next 100 
years; and 

 
WHEREAS, the opening of the Bear Mountain Bridge in 1924 provided a crucial new 
connection to the popular Bear Mountain State Park, allowing a growing number of 
visitors to more easily access the park and represents one of the signature moments in the 
history of the New York State Park system in the lower Hudson Valley; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Trust is a key partner in a variety of commemorative centennial 
programs, projects and events statewide; and 
 
WHEREAS, the NYSBA desires to host the 2024 International Cable Supported Bridge 
Operators Conference (“Conference”), to be located at the United States Military 
Academy at West Point in support of the centennial celebration of the Bear Mountain 
Bridge, located in Garrison, New York; and 
 
WHEREAS the Trust is willing to provide fiduciary services to assist NYSBA in hosting 
the Conference including the collection of registration and sponsorship fees and 
remittance of payment to certain vendors; and 
 
WHEREAS the Trust and NYSBA will memorialize terms of the services to be provided 
through a Memorandum of Agreement to be in effect from July 2023 through December 
2024 
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby RESOLVED that the Natural Heritage Trust is 
authorized by the Board of Directors to enter into a Memorandum of Agreement with the 
NYS Bridge Authority for the purposes described above.   
 
 



MOVED BY:   
SECONDED BY:  
 
In Favor:  
Opposed:   
 
 
In Witness Hereof:   ____________________________ 
    Secretary 
 



 
 

The New York State Bridge Authority 
and 

Natural Heritage Trust 
 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT dated June XX, 2023, is between the 
Natural Heritage Trust a public benefit corporation created by Chapter 653 of the Laws 
of 1968, with offices at 625 Broadway, Albany, New York 12238 (TRUST) and the New 
York State Bridge Authority with offices at P.O. Box 1010; Highland, New York 12528 
(NYSBA), 
 
WITNESSETH: 
 

Whereas, the TRUST is authorized by Article 55 of the State Arts and Cultural 
Affairs law to undertake research, studies, and reports, and to perform any work, 
including the furnishing of services required for historic programming, and other such 
work and services undertaken by the TRUST as may be performed by it in cooperation 
with other public and private agencies; and 
 

Whereas, the TRUST has agreed to cooperate with respect to the performance 
and support of certain historic preservation services for the NYSBA in the past and is 
willing to support the historic preservation programming services as described herein; 
and 

Whereas, 2024 marks the 100th anniversary of the State Council of Parks, which 
forged the New York State park system as it’s known today; and  

 
Whereas, the centennial celebration will commemorate 100 years of connections 

between New York State parks, historic sites, partners and communities – and build 
public support for a vibrant, accessible, and welcoming park system for the next 100 
years; and 

 
Whereas, the opening of the Bear Mountain Bridge in 1924 provided a crucial 

new connection to the popular Bear Mountain State Park, allowing a growing number of 
visitors to more easily access the park and represents one of the signature moments in 
the history of the New York State Park system in the lower Hudson Valley; and 

 
Whereas, the TRUST is a key partner in a variety of commemorative centennial 

programs, projects and events statewide; and 
 

 
Whereas, the NYSBA desires to host the 2024 International Cable Supported 

Bridge Operators Conference (“Conference”), to be located at the United States Military 
Academy at West Point in support of the centennial celebration of the Bear Mountain 



Bridge, located in Garrison, New York; and 
 

Whereas, the TRUST is willing to provide services to assist NYSBA in hosting 
the Conference; 
 

Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the 
NYSBA and the TRUST agree as follows: 
 
I. Term of Agreement 
 

The term of this agreement is for the period commencing on July 1, 2023 and 
extending through December 31, 2024. 
 

II. Services To Be Performed 
 

1. The TRUST, in cooperation with NYSBA vendor, Agenda Managers Inc., agrees 
to provide the services as stipulated in Schedule A. 

 
2.  The NYSBA hereby retains the TRUST, and the TRUST hereby agrees to 

perform the services described herein with respect to the collection of 
registration, exhibitor and sponsorship fees and remittance of payments to 
designated vendors identified in Schedule A. 

 
III. Fees and Charges 
 

The total cost for the services provided under this agreement is five percent (5%) 
of all monies collected by the TRUST on behalf of NYSBA and/or Agenda 
Managers up to a maximum of $250,000 and one percent (1%) of any amount 
over $250,000. The TRUST shall not be required to perform, nor will the NYSBA 
be required to pay for any services which are not specifically identified in 
Schedule A unless approved in writing by the NYSBA and the TRUST. 

 
 
IV. Additional Provisions Relating to Services 
 

1. For the purposes of this agreement, the NYSBA hereby designates the following 
individual or her successor as its agent for purposes of coordination, approvals 
and other requirements pursuant to this agreement: 
 
Dr. Minosca Alcantara, Executive Director NYSBA 
P.O. Box 1010 
Highland, NY 12528 
 
Any change in designee must be submitted in writing. 
 

2. For the purposes of this agreement, the TRUST hereby designates the following 



individual or her successor as its agent for purposes of coordination, approvals, 
finances and other requirements pursuant to this agreement: 
 
Sally Drake, Executive Director Natural Heritage Trust 
625 Broadway  
Albany, NY 12238 
 
Any change in designee must be submitted in writing. 
 

3. The TRUST shall retain a complete copy of all documentation relating to the work 
performed by the TRUST pursuant to this agreement. 

4. The relationship of the TRUST to the NYSBA is at all times that of an 
independent contractor, and that in accordance with such status the TRUST 
covenants and agrees that it will conduct itself consistent with such status, that it 
will neither hold itself out nor claim to be an officer or employee or agent of the 
NYSBA by reason hereof and that it will not, by reason hereof, make any claim, 
demand or application to or for any right or privilege applicable to any officer or 
employee of the NYSBA, including but not limited to workers' compensation 
coverage, unemployment insurance benefits, social security coverage or 
retirement membership credit. 
 

5. This agreement may not be amended orally but only by an instrument in writing 
signed by all parties. 
 

V. Termination  
 
This agreement may be terminated by either party upon thirty (30) days written 
notice to the other if, in the opinion of one party, the other has failed to perform 
its obligations hereunder or has violated any of the terms and conditions hereof, 
including the failure to make any of the payments to be made pursuant to this 
agreement. Any termination of this agreement by either party shall be withheld 
until such time as both parties have made a good faith effort to resolve whatever 
difference of opinion or problem has arisen which could result in termination and 
only upon failure to resolve such problem shall this agreement be terminated. 
 
Any termination of this Agreement by either party shall not relieve either party of 
any liability accrued hereunder prior to the date of such termination. 
 

VI. Assignment 
 

Neither this agreement nor any of the rights or obligations of either party 
hereunder may be assigned by either party to any person, corporation, or other 
entity unless the other party shall have consented to such assignment in writing. 
 
 
 



VII. Waiver 
 
No failure by either party to insist upon the strict performance of any covenant, 
duty, agreement, or condition of this agreement or to exercise any right or 
remedy consequent upon any breach thereof shall constitute a waiver of any 
such breach or of any covenant, duty, agreement, or condition thereof. 
 

VIII. Integration 
 
This agreement, except as it may be amended from time to time by written 
amendment as provided herein, constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties, and supersedes any prior agreements and understandings, pertaining to 
the subject matter. 

IX. Binding Agreement 
 
This agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and 
their successors. 
 

X. Notices 
 
All notices hereunder shall be in writing and addressed to each party at its 
address specified in the first paragraph of this agreement, or in each case at 
such other address. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the TRUST and the NYSBA have each caused this 

Memorandum of Agreement to be executed on their behalf as of the date thereof. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*** Signature Page Follows*** 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SCHEDULE A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

It is anticipated that more than 200 participants will attend the 2024 
Conference including owners and operators of cable supported bridges, 
suppliers, sponsors, government officials and other stakeholders. The 
event may draw delegates from more than 40 countries. The three-day 
Conference may include networking and social events, keynote, panel and 
break- out sessions, technical tours, round table discussions and more. 
NYSBA applied to host the Conference to coincide with the 2024 centennial 
of the Bear Mountain Bridge and the concurrent centennial of New York 
State Parks. 

This Conference will showcase the 100 year old bridge as well as the 
surrounding area to include Bear Mountain, Harriman and Storm King State 
Parks, the Fort Montgomery State Historic Site and the United States 
Military Academy at West Point where all of the indoor symposium will take 
place. 

To facilitate this Conference, NYSBA has engaged the services of Agenda 
Managers Inc. (“AMGR”) to oversee the planning and operation of the 
event.  Per NYSBA’s contract with AMGR, AMGR will collect all registration 
fees from attendees and forward them to the Trust.  In addition, AMGR in 
collaboration with the International Cable Supported Bridge Operators 
Association (ICSBOA), will solicit sponsors for the event.  Sponsorship fees 
will be forwarded to the Trust directly. 

NYSBA will be the entity responsible for executing all related vendor and 
other contractual agreements necessary for the Conference.  

The Trust will create a separate designated fund account for the 
Conference. At NYSBA’s direction, the Trust will make disbursements 
related to the delivery of the Conference from the funds received by AMGR 
and sponsorship fees, including but not limited to venue rental, audiovisual, 
facilitation, catering, printing, graphic design, virtual platform, etc. as 
estimated in the attached budget. The Trust will provide NYSBA with a 
monthly accounting statement detailing all revenues and expenditures 
processed from the Conference account.     



October, 2024
Est Attendance: 200 in-person 

Registration Fee: varied
Statement Date: 25-May-23

Estimate

Revenue Line Items

Registration Fees (all)
registration fees - members early 120 650.00$     78,000.00$             

registration fees - members full rate 30 725.00$     21,750.00$             
reg fees - non members early 20 725.00$     14,500.00$             

reg fees - non members full rate 30 800.00$     24,000.00$             
technical tours 20 25.00$       500.00$                  

 exhibits 6 4,000.00$  24,000.00$             
sponsorship $50,000.00

Total Revenue 212,750.00$           
Expense Line Items

Printed Material
first announcement -$                       

special 500.00$                  
sponsor package -$                       

in  house 150.00$                  
final programs 225 6.00$         1,350.00$               

Sub-Total 2,000.00$               
Signage

foam core 10 35.00$       350.00$                  
posters

displays (banner bugs) 2 500.00$     1,000.00$               
Sub-Total 1,350.00$               

Design
artwork (print/electronic) 3,000.00$               

host ad and poster 800.00$                  
artwork/papers e- book 2,500.00$               

website -$                       
Sub-Total 6,300.00$               

Registration
on-line registration 500.00$                  

call for papers 750.00$                  
lanyards 225 3.50$         787.50$                  

cases 225 0.50$         112.50$                  
cc processing fees 500.00$                  

registration bags 225 -$           -$                       
Sub-Total 2,650.00$               

Programme
speakers fees 3,000.00$               
speaker travel 5,000.00$               

special honourary gifts 1,000.00$               
special -$                       

Sub-Total 9,000.00$               
Catering

breakfast 2 200 38.00$       15,200.00$             
Members' dinner 1 50 125.00$     6,250.00$               

Opening Reception/activity 1 10,000.00$             
Gala 1 225 150.00$     33,750.00$             

Lunches 2 225 50.00$       22,500.00$             

Project Date:
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ICSBOC 2024             Budget 
Estimate



coffee break 4 225 15.00$       13,500.00$             
end of day receptions 2 200 25.00$       10,000.00$             
hospitality suite rental 3 500.00$     

hosp suite bar & mem dinner hosp 2
Wednesday breakfast 1 70 38.00$       2,660.00$               

Thursday breakfast 1 40 38.00$       1,520.00$               

Sub-Total 115,380.00$           
AV & Technical

audio-visual - venue 25,000.00$             
Production - Gala 2,500.00$               

staging & equipment, incl space rental 
(venue) 600.00$                  

Sub-Total 28,100.00$             
Décor

Opening Reception/Gala -$                       
off-site rentals 500.00$                  

floral/props 500.00$                  
Sub-Total 1,000.00$               

Entertainment
entertainment 1,500.00$               

riders 250.00$                  
Sub-Total 1,750.00$               

Transportation
rental van (week) 1,200.00$               
extra car service 1,500.00$               

bus transfers
Sub-Total 2,700.00$               

Trade Show
set-up 12 125.00$     1,500.00$               

poster boards 8 150.00$     1,200.00$               
Sub-Total 2,700.00$               

Gifts
participants gifts 225 -$           -$                       

USBs 225 6.00$         1,350.00$               
Sub-Total 1,350.00$               

Venue
event liability insurance 1,500.00$               

meeting space rental 10,000.00$             
hotel accommodations 3,500.00$               

offsite venues 2,500.00$               
Sub-Total 17,500.00$             

Administration
travel expenses for Agenda

Administration NHT @ .05% of revenue) 10,637.00$             
couriers 250.00$                  

telephone/fax 250.00$                  
committee meetings expense 2,000.00$               

volunteer host clothing 500.00$                  
on site support staff 1,500.00$               

miscellaneous 2,000.00$               
Sub-Total 17,137.00$             

Total Expenses 208,917.00$           

EVENT TOTAL 3,833.00$           



 

 

 
Natural Heritage Trust 
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Memorandum 
 
To:  Natural Heritage Trust Board of Directors 
 
From: Matthew Davidson, Chair, Governance Committee  
 
Date: June 28, 2023 
 
RE: Board Member Evaluation 
 
An important function of the Governance Committee is ensuring that board members of the 
Natural Heritage Trust (NHT) have met the requirements set by the Public Authorities Law and 
maintained by the Authorities Budget Office (ABO). The below updates the January, 2023 
recommendation of the Governance Committee to the Board related to the Annual Board of 
Directors Evaluation. 
 
Board Member Training: Annual Board of Directors Evaluation 
Public Authorities Law requires that the board of every state and local public authority conduct 
an annual evaluation of its performance. Board member comments are protected from disclosure 
under Article 6 of Public Officers Law, but the results of the assessment are to be 
provided to the ABO. 
 
The Authorities Budget Office recommends that each board member annually perform their own 
evaluation of the whole board. The evaluation should be conducted confidentially with the 
results compiled by the governance committee. The member responses to the Board Evaluation 
questionnaire should be aggregated and the results submitted to the ABO via email (Subject: 
CONFIDENTIAL Results of Board of Directors Evaluation) within 90 days of the 
close of the authority’s fiscal year. 
 
The Governance Committee is pleased to report that the 2023 Board evaluation has been 
completed and the confidential aggregated responses have been submitted to the ABO with 
receipt acknowledged. A copy of the summarized report is attached to this memorandum. 
 
 





Natural Heritage Trust 
Governance Committee Meeting 

May 31, 2023 
 

Committee Members 
 
Sarah Crowell 
 Director, Office of Planning, Development & Community Infrastructure 
 Dept. of State (DOS) 
 
Matt Davidson 
 Deputy Commissioner, Energy and Climate Change 
 Office of Parks, Preservation & Historic Preservation (OPRHP) 
 
Laura DiBetta 
 Director of Outdoor Recreation 
 Dept. of Environmental Conservation (DEC) 
 
Donna Ensign 
 Principal Accountant 
 Dept. of Environmental Conservation (DEC) 
 
Andy Fyfe 
 Assistant Deputy Commissioner 
 Office of Parks, Recreation & Historic Preservation (OPRHP) 
 
 
Natural Heritage Trust Staff 
 
Sally Drake 
 Executive Director 
  
Sarah Purcell 
 Deputy Director & CFO 
  
Andrea Buniak 
 Development Associate 
  
 
Briefing materials provided for this meeting of the Governance Committee included: 

- Agenda 
- Minutes: January 9, 2023 
- Memo: Employee Handbook Update 
- Draft Employee Handbook (redlined) 

 
 



The meeting of the Natural Heritage Trust (NHT) Governance Committee began at 10:59 a.m.  
 
Employee Handbook Update 
Sarah Purcell opened the meeting by discussing the working draft of proposed updates to the 
NHT Employee Handbook, which hasn’t been updated since 2020. Besides formatting and web 
link updates, as well as edits for clarity, more substantive changes included: 

- Correcting previous mentions of JCOPE to read Commission on Ethics and Lobbying in 
Government 

- Clarifying language regarding the employee salary adjustment process, health insurance 
credit program, time and attendance, Paid Family Leave program, employee performance 
evaluations and travel policy 

- Updating information on retirement vesting per changes to NYS Retirement & Social 
Security Law 

- Adding new policies: 
o Telecommuting Policy: to align with agency partner practices 
o Lactation Policy: to comply with expanded NYS protections for nursing 
o Pandemic Operations Plan: to comply with NYS requirements 

- There was also discussion about including Paid Parental Leave (PPL), but NHT needs to 
do more work to document how such a benefit would be funded.    

 
Proposed MOA with NYS Bridge Authority 
Sally Drake then noted that the NYS Bridge Authority (NYSBA) will be hosting the 2024 
International Cable-Supported Bridge Operators Conference—which will celebrate the 
centennial of the Bear Mountain Bridge—and had inquired about the possibility of partnering 
with NHT for this event. As the NHT is partnering with the State Council of Parks (SCOP) and 
OPRHP to celebrate SCOP’s centennial in 2024, it was deemed to be fitting and aligns with 
NHT’s mission priority of partnering with other entities that share mission-compatible goals.  
 
It was proposed that the NHT would accept sponsorship and other related fees for the conference 
and would manage vendor payments on NYSBA’s behalf from a fund designated specifically for 
the conference. The NHT will collect a 5% fee on funds collected. 
 
Board Member Self-Evaluation 
As the committee member managing the Board Self-Evaluation process, Andy Fyfe reported that 
one evaluation was outstanding and that he continued to check in. Once all reports are complete, 
Andy will aggregate the responses for reporting to the Board and the ABO in June. 
 
Committee members commented that it may be more efficient to provide Board members with a 
fillable digital file rather than the current manual form. 
 
 
There being no further business, the meeting concluded at 11:26 a.m. 



 
 
 

 NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
RESOLUTION # 2023-7 

 
Resolution for the Natural Heritage Trust to Approve  

FY 2022-2023 Investment Report 
(Proposed June 28, 2023) 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust (“NHT”) has the responsibility 
under article 55.05 of the Arts and Cultural Affairs Law of the State of New York, 
Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law, and under the NHT By-Laws, to oversee and 
manage properly the investments of the NHT; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Natural Heritage Trust Investment Policy requires the Members of the 
Board to approve an annual investment report within ninety (90) days after the close of 
each fiscal year; and 
 
WHEREAS, the fiscal year 2022-2023 Natural Heritage Trust Investment Report has 
been presented to and reviewed by the Board; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby RESOLVED that the Natural Heritage Trust 
Investment Report is hereby approved by the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust. 
  
MOVED BY:   
SECONDED BY:  
 
In Favor:  
Opposed:   
 
 
In Witness Hereof:   ____________________________ 
    Secretary 
 



 
NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 

RESOLUTION #2023-8 
 

Resolution for the Natural Heritage Trust Readopting 
Banking and Investment Policy  

(Proposed June 28, 2023) 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust (“NHT”) has the responsibility 
under article 55.05 of the Arts and Cultural Affairs Law of the State of New York, 
Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law, and under the NHT By-Laws, to oversee the 
banking and investment policies of the NHT; and 
 
WHEREAS, the NHT administers and oversees the banking and investment transactions 
related to the organization and its fiduciary funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, the NHT relies on income earned on its investments to support projects and 
programs funded through the NHT, as well as administrative operations of the Trust; and  
 
WHEREAS, the investment objective of the NHT is to obtain maximum return on 
available funds while maintaining a prudent cash position and protecting against loss of 
principal; and  
 
WHEREAS, the goals, objectives and guidelines applicable to specific investment 
accounts are set forth in Investment Policy Statements established by the NHT upon the 
advice of its Investment Advisor, Wilmington Trust Investment Advisors (WTIA); and 
 
WHEREAS, the NHT’s Banking and Investment Policy have been presented to and 
reviewed by the Board; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby RESOLVED that the Natural Heritage Trust 
Banking and Investment Policy and related Investment Policy Statements are hereby re-
adopted by the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust. 
  
MOVED BY:   
SECONDED BY:  
 
In Favor:  
Opposed:  
 
 
In Witness Hereof:   ____________________________ 
    Secretary 



Natural Heritage Trust 

2022-23 Investment Report & Policies 

June 28, 2023 

Report Background 

The NHT is required by Public Authorities Law Section 2925 to prepare and submit an annual 
investment report to the NY Authorities Budget Office and Office of the State Comptroller. The 
report is submitted electronically in the Public Authorities Reporting Information System 
(PARIS) and posted to the NHT’s website.   
 
Report Contents 
 
   

1. Banking/Operating Accounts Activity 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 
a. 4/1/22 Cash Balances 
b. Revenues 
c. Expenses 
d. Interest Earned 
e. Bank Fees 
f. Funds Transfers 
g. Ending Cash Balances 3/31/23    

 
2. Investment Account Activity 4/1/22 – 3/31/23 

a. Investment Strategy/Category: Short-term/Operating; Capital/Reserve, Long-term 
Endowment 

b. Beginning Market Balance of the Investment Account 
c. Additional Principal Added to Accounts 
d. Distributions Transferred for Operating, Maintenance or Capital Costs 
e. Income (Interest, Dividends and Realized Gains/Losses) 
f. Investment Management Fees Charged by Wilmington Trust Investment Advisors 
g. Change in Ending Market Value 
h. Total Return by quarter and the year/performance benchmarking 

 
3. Holdings List – Aggregate Portfolio  

 
4. Investment and Banking Policy & Investment Policy Statements: 

a. Short-term Operating 
b. Capital/Reserve 
c. Long-term/Endowment 

 
5. Independent Audit of Investments 

 
 

 



Account
Beginning Balance 

4/1/22 Revenues Expenditures Interest Income Bank Fees Transfers (Net)
Ending Balance 

3/31/23
Key Bank (Main Operating/Payroll) $4,949,410 $13,616,153 $16,815,664 $3,392 $9,324 -$615,000 $1,128,967

M&T Bank  (Merchant- CC) $198,664 $346,744 $566,748 $0 $16,641 $200,000 $162,019

Capital One $115,110 $2,542,947 $0 $0 $65 -$2,585,000 $72,992

Totals $5,263,184 $16,505,844 $17,382,412 $3,392 $26,030 -$3,000,000 $1,363,977

NHT Cash (Banking) Account Activity Year-to-Date 4/1/22 - 3/31/23













NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
 

BANKING & INVESTMENT POLICY 
(Adopted June 29, 2020) 

  
 
 
THE BANKING & INVESTMENT POLICY OF THE NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST REGARDING 
INVESTMENT OF ALL FUNDS, PROVIDING FOR THE SECURITY OF THOSE INVESTMENTS AND 
PROVIDING FOR PERIODIC REPORTS ON THE INVESTMENTS, last revised June 29, 2020.  

 
ARTICLE I 

 
STATEMENT OF PURPOSE AND INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE 

 
101. This Policy is adopted pursuant to the provisions of Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law and 

shall be reviewed and approved by the Board at least annually. 
 

102. The investment objective of the Trust is to obtain maximum return on available funds while 
maintaining a prudent cash position and protecting against loss of principal.  

 
103. The goals, objectives and guidelines applicable to specific investment accounts shall be set forth in 

Investment Policy Statements (IPS) established by the Trust upon the advice of its Investment 
Advisor. 

 
 

ARTICLE II 
 

DEFINITION OF TERMS 
 

201. Definitions.  The following terms shall, for all purposes of this Policy, have the following meanings 
unless the context shall clearly indicate some other meaning: 

 
“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Natural Heritage Trust.  
 
“Trust” shall mean the Natural Heritage Trust. 
 
“Chief Financial Officer” or “CFO” shall mean that officer as such term is defined in the By-Laws of the 
Trust or her/his designee. 
 
“Counsel” shall mean that officer as such term is defined in the By-Laws of the Trust.  
 
“Custodial Account” shall mean the bank and investment account(s) of the Natural Heritage Trust. 
 
“Custodian” shall mean the Executive Director of the Natural Heritage Trust. 
 
“Deliver” or “Delivered” shall mean either (1) the voluntary transfer of possession to the Custodian or a 
custodial bank designated by the Custodian, or (2) the registration of transfer by the appropriate book 
entry procedure by a member of the Federal Reserve System.  
 



“Depository Bank” shall mean a bank designated by the Executive Director to hold deposits of the 
Trust’s funds. The obligation on the part of the Depository Bank is that it keeps the deposit and, upon 
request, restores it to the depositor or otherwise delivers it according to the original trust. 
 
“Investment Advisor” shall be the person or entity to provide advice to the Trust and to invest the funds 
of the Trust at the direction of the Investment Officers.  
 
“Investment Obligations” shall mean U.S. Treasury Obligations, Federal Government Agency 
Obligations, Certificates of Deposit, Corporate Debt Obligations and Other Obligations Authorized 
under SFL 98, as set forth in Section 302 of this Policy. 
 
“Investment Officer” shall mean the Trust’s Executive Director or her/his designee.   
 
“Investment Policy Statement” or “IPS” shall mean the document setting forth the goals and objectives, 
and the management guidelines applicable to the Trust’s investment portfolios.  Each IPS shall create 
the framework for an appropriately diversified asset mix that can be expected to generate acceptable 
returns at a level of risk suitable to the Trust.  Each IPS shall be approved by the Board after 
consultation with the Investment Advisor prior to signature by the Investment Officer. 

 
 
“Officer” shall mean any person holding an office of the Trust as defined in the Trust’s By-Laws. 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

INVESTMENT AUTHORIZATION, PERMITTED INVESTMENTS AND SECURITY 
THEREFOR 

 
301. Investment Authorization. 
 

(1) The Investment Advisor shall invest the funds of the Trust in accordance with the terms of this 
Investment Policy at the direction of the Investment Officer. 

 
(2) The Investment Officer shall, after arriving at an investment decision in accordance with the 

Trust’s investment policy, authorize the Investment Advisor to invest the funds of the Trust. 
 

(3) The Investment Advisor shall have full discretion to invest the funds of the Trust in accordance 
with the associated IPS and shall within  three business days provide a letter to the Trust 
Investment Officer and CFO detailing the trade and reason for the trading activity.  

 
302. Permitted Investments and Required Security Provisions.  

 
(1) All Funds of the Trust must be initially deposited in Negotiated Order of Withdrawal (NOW), 

comparable demand or money market accounts secured as described below. All proceeds of 
maturing investments must be immediately redeposited in NOW, comparable demand or money 
market accounts unless reinvested in accordance with the instructions of the Trust’s Investment 
Officer.  

 
(2)  Investment of funds of the Trust or any other monies under its custody and control not required 

for immediate use or disbursement, at the discretion of the Board, may be made in accordance 
with the applicable Investment Policy Statement applicable to each investment account.  The 
Trust may establish an IPS for individual investment account types (e.g. operating, capital 



projects, reserve, long-term, endowment).  Each IPS shall be appended to and incorporated in 
this Policy.  

 
(3) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, permitted investments may only be placed through 

firms approved by the Investment Officer or CFO. 
 
(4) The maturity of any authorized investment obligation shall not exceed the term provided for in 

the IPS applicable to such investment. 
 

(5) In the event that a change in market conditions alter the rating of any investment obligation held 
by the Trust such that that the investment obligation would no longer be permissible under these 
guidelines or applicable IPS, the Investment Advisor shall notify the Investment Officer or CFO 
as quickly as is reasonably practicable. Disposal of such investment obligation is detailed in the 
applicable IPS.  

 
303. Collateral 
 

(1) All secured deposits and investments must be fully secured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC) or equivalent or fully collateralized at all times except as provided in 
Section 303(3). 

 
(2) Demand deposits, time deposits, and certificates of deposit issued by a commercial bank having 

a long term rating of “Aa3” or higher by Moody’s or “AA-“ or higher by S&P Global Ratings 
do not require collateralization unless other wise required by the Trust Investment Officer or 
CFO.  All other demand deposits, time deposits, and certificates of deposit shall be 
collateralized for amounts over and above Federal Deposit Insurance corporation coverage.  All 
collateral shall be authorized Investment Obligations, exclusive of Corporate Debt Obligations.  
Collateral shall be delivered to the Investment Advisor or its custodial bank. The market value 
of collateral shall at all time equal or exceed the principal amount of the funds deposited. 
Collateral shall be monitored and valued to market by the Investment Advisor in accordance 
with its policies. 

 
(3) Collateral shall not be required with respect to the direct purchase of obligations of New York 

State, obligations the principal and interest of which are directly guaranteed by New York State, 
obligations of the United States, and obligations of federal agencies the principal and interest of 
which are guaranteed by the United States Government.  

 
304.  All investments shall be reviewed by the Trust Investment Officer and CFO  on a monthly basis 

and reported to the Board of the Trust at least quarterly.  
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF INVESTMENT ADVISOR 
 

401. Responsibilities of Investment Advisor. 
 

(1) The Investment Advisor shall invest Custodial Account funds in accordance with law and this 
investment policy at the direction of the Investment Officer or CFO. 

 
(2) The Investment Advisor shall invest Custodial Account funds into highest yielding instruments 

permissible while maintaining security and liquidity consistent with this policy and/or 
applicable IPS. 



 
(3) The Investment Advisor shall be available for consultation with the Trust Investment Officer, CFO, 

the Board, and/or their designee(s) as necessary and as often as reasonably requested.  
 

ARTICLE V 
 

OTHER REQUIREMENTS OF INVESTMENTS 
 

501. Written Contracts. In accordance with Section 2925, Subdivision 3(c) of the Public Authorities 
Law, all investments of the Trust’s funds must be made pursuant to a written contract between the 
Trust and its Investment Advisor.  

 
502. Security Provisions. Each investment shall provide for sufficient security of the Trust’s financial 

interest as stated in Sections 301 and 302 of this Policy. The Investment Advisor shall maintain a 
description of the use, type and amount of collateral or insurance for each investment, the method 
for valuation of that collateral and of control, deposit and retention of investments and any required 
collateral, including, where appropriate, physical delivery or other action necessary to obtain title or 
a perfected security interest.  

 
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

REPORTS 
 

601. Quarterly Reports. The Trust shall prepare and deliver to the Board Quarterly reports on the Trust’s 
Investments. Such reports shall include a description of new investments, the inventory of existing 
investments and the selection of investment bankers, brokers, agents, dealers or auditors. The report 
of investments included in the financial report submitted by the CFO at either Board Meetings or 
via e-mail will be deemed to meet this requirement. 

 
602. Annual Report. Within ninety (90) days after the close of each fiscal year, the  Board shall approve 

an annual investment report. Such report shall include the Policy and any supplemental resolutions, 
the results of an annual independent audit of the investments, the annual investment income record 
of the Trust and a list of the total fees, commissions or other compensations by payee for all 
investment advisors, and an annual consolidation of other material contained in the annual report. 
This annual investment report, after being approved by the Board, shall be submitted to the 
Governor’s Office, Division of the Budget, Office of the State Comptroller, the Senate Finance 
Committee and the Assembly Ways and Means Committee. Copies of the annual investment report 
shall also be posted to the Trust’s website.  

 
ARTICLE VII 

 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
701. Powers of Amendment. Any modification or amendment of this Policy may be made by a 

supplemental resolution adopted at any duly constituted meeting of the Board; provided, however, 
that no such modification or amendment to this Policy shall abrogate the rights and duties of then 
existing Trust contracts with third parties 

 
702. No Recourse Under this Policy 

 



(1) No provision in this Policy shall be the basis of any claim against any Board member, officer or 
employee of the Trust in their individual or official capacity or against the Trust itself. 

 
(2) The Board, officers, or employees of the Trust Shall be deemed to be acting within the Public 

Officers Law in the discharge of their duties pursuant to this Policy. 
 

 
 

703. Effect of Failure to Comply.  
 

Failure to comply with this Policy shall not invalidate any investment or affect the validity of the 
authorization of the Board or their designees to make such investments.  

 
 
 
 
 





































INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 
2925(3)(f) OF THE NEW YORK STATE PUBLIC AUTHORITIES LAW AND ON 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE BASED ON AN EXAMINATION PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Directors 
Natural Heritage Trust 

Report on Compliance with Section 2925(3)(F) of th  New York State Public 
Authorities Law 

We have examined Natural Heritage Trust’s (the Trust ) compliance with its own 
investment guidelines, and with the requirements o  Section 2925(3)(f) of the New York 
State (NYS) Public Authorities Law for the year en ed March 31, 20 3.  Management of the 
Trust is responsible for the compliance with the sp cified equirements.  Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Trust’s compliance wit  the specified requirements based on 
our examination. 

Our examination was conducted in accordan e wit  ttestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Ac ou tants and the standards applicable to 
attestation engagements contain  n Gove nment Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the Un ted S ates.  hose standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obta n rea nable assurance about whether the Trust complied, 
in all material respects, with the sp ified requirements referenced above.  An examination 
involves performing proc s to o ain evidence about whether the Trust complied with 
the specified requirements.  T e nat e, timing and extent of the procedures selected 
depend on our judgement, includ ng an assessment of the risks of material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud o  error.  We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a r asona le basis for our opinion.   

We are required to be independent and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to the examination engagement. 

Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the Trust’s compliance with 
specified requirements. 

In our opinion, the Trust complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended March 31, 2023. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

Management of the Trust is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the specified requirements referred to above. In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance with the specified requirements, we considered the 
Trust’s internal control over compliance with the specified requirements to determine the 
examination procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on compliance with the specified requirements, but not for the 

DRA
FT



 

 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance 
with the specified requirements. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control over compliance with the specified requirements. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a 
control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of 
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with 
the specified requirements on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with the 
specified requirements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with the specified requirements that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was fo  the limited purpose described 
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designe  to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in in ernal contr  over compliance that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. Howeve  material wea nesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that have not been identifie  
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of 
Directors of Natural Heritage Trust, the Ne  Y k State Office of the State Comptroller and 
the Authority Budget Office and is not intended to  and should not be, used for anyone 
other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
Albany, New York 
DATE 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
RESOLUTION # 2023-9 

Resolution for the Natural Heritage Trust to Adopt 
 2022-2023 Procurement Report   

(Proposed June 28, 2023) 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust (“NHT”) has a duty pursuant to 
Article 55 of the Arts and Cultural Affairs Law to comply with all general provisions of 
the Public Authorities Law and applicable rules and regulations; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 2879 of the Public Authorities Law, as amended, requires an 
annual report on the award of procurement contracts for the procurement of goods and 
services; and  
 
WHEREAS, the 2022-2023 Procurement Report has been presented to and reviewed by 
the Board; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Chair has recommended that the proposed 2022-2023 Procurement 
Report be adopted; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby RESOLVED that the 2022-2023 Natural Heritage 
Trust Procurement Report is hereby adopted by the Board of the Natural Heritage Trust. 
 
MOVED BY:    
SECONDED BY:  
 
In Favor:     
Opposed:    
  
 
In Witness Hereof:   ____________________________ 
    Secretary 

  
 













 

 
 
 

NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST 
RESOLUTION # 2023-10 

Resolution for the Natural Heritage Trust to Re-Adopt  
Procurement Guidelines   
(Proposed June 28, 2023) 

 
WHEREAS, from time to time the Natural Heritage Trust (“NHT”) utilizes outside 
vendors, contractors and individuals for the acquisition of goods or services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of the NHT has a duty pursuant to Article 55 of the Arts and 
Cultural Affairs Law to comply with all general provisions of the Public Authorities Law; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 2879 of the Public Authorities Law, as amended, requires each 
public benefit corporation to adopt annually by resolution comprehensive guidelines 
which detail the corporation’s operative policy and instructions regarding the use, 
awarding, monitoring and reporting of procurement contracts; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Natural Heritage Trust Purchasing and Procurement Guidelines 
(Revised March 2013) and last re-adopted June 21, 2022 have been presented to and 
reviewed by the Board; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby RESOLVED that the Natural Heritage Trust 
Purchasing and Procurement Guidelines are hereby re-adopted by the Board of the 
Natural Heritage Trust. 
  
MOVED BY:    
SECONDED BY:  
 
In Favor:    
Opposed: None  
 
 
In Witness Hereof:   ____________________________ 
    Secretary 
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NATURAL HERITAGE TRUST PURCHASING AND 
PROCUREMENT GUIDELINES 

(ADOPTED March 2013) 

These guidelines amend and incorporate the Natural Heritage Trust’s (the 
“Trust”) Guidelines for the Purchasing and Award of Procurement Contracts 
(“Guidelines”), last adopted in 2012.   

The following Guidelines set forth the policy of the Trust by virtue of a resolution 
adopted by the Trust’s Board of Directors (the “Board”).   These Guidelines set forth the 
operative policy for the Trust and its officers, account holders, and employees regarding 
purchasing and the use, awarding, monitoring, and reporting of procurement contracts. 
The Guidelines are not intended and shall not be deemed to grant or confer any rights or 
remedies to or upon any third party. 

1. Definitions:

A. The term “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Natural Heritage
Trust.

B. The term “procurement contract,” consistent with the definition set forth in
Section 2879 of Public Authorities Law, means any written agreement for the
acquisition of goods or services of any kind, in the actual or estimated
amount of $5,000 or more.

C. The term “attempt to influence the procurement process” shall mean any
attempt to influence any determination of a member, officer, or employee of
the Trust by a person other than a member, officer or employee of the Trust
with respect to (a) the solicitation, evaluation or award of a procurement
contract ; or (b)  the preparation of specification or request for submissions
of proposals for a procurement contract .

2. Applicability:

A. Except as otherwise provided herein, all Trust contracts are subject to these
guidelines.

B. Exclusions:  Project procurement contracts  between the Trust’s Grantee and
its contractor(s) are excluded from these guidelines unless otherwise required
by the Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer of the Trust.
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3. Thresholds for Procurement Guidelines: 
 

The Trust adopts the following purchasing and procurement threshold levels: 
 

TOTAL PRICE                          METHOD OF SELECTING A VENDOR &                     
MAKING AN AWARD FOR PURCHASES 

 
 
$0 to $4,999 Procurements may be confirming or non-

confirming by using either a letter order or 
requisition/purchase order. Vendor selection 
and reasonableness of price at the regional 
level must be referenced in the request for 
payment. 

  
$5,000 to $14,999      Requires solicitation of at least three (3) 

written quotes; quotes must be submitted to 
the Trust’s Administrative Office. The Trust 
will then issue a purchase order or enter into 
a contract with the vendor. 

 
$15,000 to $49,999  Requires written specifications approved in 

advance by the Trust, solicitation of at least 
three (3) written quotes and established 
criteria for award determination. 

 
$50,000 and above Requires formal competitive procurement 

consisting of written specifications, 
solicitation of sealed bids, and advertisement 
in the NYS Contract Reporter (an 
emergency situation, circumstances that 
threaten health or safety, or that negatively 
impact the Trust’s ability to generate 
revenue may allow for a waiver from this 
requirement); waiver requests are submitted 
directly to the Trust’s Executive Director for 
consideration and approval.  

  
 

Notes: Total price quotes must include all costs associated with the procurement; e.g. 
shipping, set-up, surcharges, or deposits, etc. 

 
 When it becomes necessary to competitively bid an ongoing service, the 

anticipated dollar value of the purchase in total and/or the entire contract term 
should be considered before a procurement option is pursued.   
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4. Approvals: 

 
All proposals for procurement contracts are reviewed and approved by the 
Executive Director or Chief Financial Officer to determine the services required, 
the reasonableness of the proposed total price, and whether the procurement is 
consistent with the objectives of the account which the procurement is applied 
against.  Trust Counsel may review and approve proposed contracts prior to 
execution.  All procurement contracts are signed by the Executive Director.   
Payments are made on the basis of submitted invoices detailing the goods or 
services provided and/or certification of the contractors’ actual expenses and 
confirmation of receipt of goods and/or services. 
 
A.   To the extent deemed appropriate by the Executive Director, the Chief 
Financial Officer or Counsel, procurement contracts may include, but should not 
necessarily be limited to, the following provisions: 

  
1. Scope of services  
2. Contract price or fee structure 
3. Method of monitoring work performance  
4. Use of Trust supplies 
5. Use of Trust  personnel 
6. Method or basis of payment  
7. Compliance with laws, rules and regulations 
8. Termination of agreement for cause and for convenience (for the Trust 

only) 
9. Amendment or assignment of agreement  
10. Death of consultant 
11. Laws of New York State apply 
12. Creation of independent contractor relationship 
13. Provisions required by law deemed inserted 
14. Term  
15. Bankruptcy of consultant  
16. Extension provisions 
17. Severability 
18. Contract deliverables   
19. Performance Bond 

 
5.  Professional Service Procurement Contracts 
 

On occasion, the Trust requires the assistance of outside vendors and/or specialty 
firms to perform professional services.  This may include, but are not limited to 
part-time legal, audit, and accounting services and consulting services related to a 
specific subject matter, program or project.  In these instances, neither the Trust’s 
personnel, nor staff available by assignment from the Office of Parks, Recreation 
and Historic Preservation, the Department of Environmental Conservation, or the 
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Department of State have the particular area of experience or expertise to perform 
such services.  When the Trust decides to utilize professional service procurement 
contracts or agreements, the following guidelines are applicable: 

 
A.    Before entering into professional service procurement contracts, the Trust 
shall consider whether the contemplated services may be adequately and cost 
effectively performed by staff of the Trust or by available staff of some other 
State agency or under existing State contract. 

 
B.    The Trust’s rationale for utilizing professional service procurement contracts 
may include the need for specialized expertise not available within the Trust or 
the need to provide  services that do not arise on a sufficiently recurring basis to 
justify the hiring of an employee to provide the service.  All professional service 
procurement contracts must be approved by the Executive Director. 

 
6. Requirements for the Selection of Vendors for Procurement Contracts  
   

A.    The Trust shall make every effort to secure bids from outside vendors, 
contractors, or individuals for procurement contracts on a competitive basis, and to 
select from such bids the qualified vendor, contractor, or individual offering the 
most favorable terms. The Trust in its attempt to secure procurement contracts on a 
competitive basis to the extent practicable as determined by the Executive Director 
or the Chief Financial Officer, shall:   

 
1.    Solicit bids from vendors qualified in the area of the goods or services 
to be provided in accordance with these guidelines; 

 
2.    Where required by law or these Guidelines, or where otherwise 
determined to be appropriate, solicit bids from additional vendors, 
contractors, or individuals through advertisement in the New York State 
Contract Reporter; 

   
3.    Evaluate bids received on the basis of the vendor, contractor, or 
individual’s  technical qualifications, financial stability, past performance 
for the Trust, staff availability, experience, contract price, fee structure, 
compliance with bid requirements and any other necessary criteria;   

    
4.    Document the deliberative processes by which vendors, contractors, 
or individuals are selected. 
    
   

 
B.    Sole Source Procurement   The Board, upon the adoption of these Guidelines, 
hereby waives the use of the procedure for selecting vendors, contractors, or 
individuals outlined in section A of this Part 5 in those instances where it is 
determined by the Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer, that in the best 
interests of the Trust, it is not possible or practicable to secure such contracts on a 
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competitive basis due to the specialized or unique nature of the goods or services 
required.   In such instances, the approval shall be based upon documentation 
detailing: (1) unique nature of the requirement; (2) the basis upon which it was 
determined that there is only one known vendor able to meet the need; and (3) the 
basis upon which the Trust determined the cost to be reasonable.  

   
C.  Single Source Procurement   The Board, upon adoption of these Guidelines, 
hereby waives the use of the procedure for selecting contractors outlined in section 
A of this Part 5 in those instances where the Executive Director or the Chief 
Financial Officer determines that two or more vendors, contractors, or individuals 
can supply the goods or services but one vendor, contractor, or individual is 
preferred over the others for reasons such as expertise or previous experience with 
similar contracts.  In such instance, the approval shall be based upon documentation 
demonstrating the justification for selecting a single vendor, contractor, or 
individual. This justification may include (1) past experience with a particular issue; 
(2) familiarity with specific agency operations; (3) experience with similar projects 
at other agencies or levels of government and (4) the basis upon which the Trust 
determined the cost to be reasonable.   

 
D.    The Board, upon adoption of these Guidelines, hereby waives the use of the 
procedure for selecting contractors outlined in section A of this Part 5 in those 
instances where the Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer determines 
that the procurement of such services cannot await the solicitation/selection of such 
contractor pursuant to this procedure; or an emergency situation, circumstances that 
threaten health or safety, or circumstances that may negatively impact the Trust’s 
ability to generate revenue are evident. 

   
E.   The Board, upon adoption of these Guidelines, hereby waives the use of the 
procedure for selecting vendors and contractors outlined in Section A of this Part 6 
in those instances where the amount of a procurement contract does not exceed two 
hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) if purchased from a small business, those 
certified as MWBE’s under article 15-A of the Executive Law, or commodities or 
technology that are recycled or remanufactured. 

 
F.     Procurement contracts so approved containing a renewal option may be 
renewed by the Executive Director or the Chief Financial Officer, if it is determined 
to be in the best interest of the Trust, contingent upon the mutual written agreement 
of both contractual parties. 

   
G.  The Audit Committee of the Board shall approve every contract over $100,000 .  
The entire Board of Directors shall approve any contract in excess of $250,000.  
Consistent with Section 2879 of Public Authorities Law, all contracts involving 
services to be rendered in excess of one year shall be approved by the Board. 
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H.  Annually, the Trust may review the performance of service contract 
arrangements to determine where and under what conditions certain contracts will 
be continued or discontinued. 
 
I.    Under certain circumstances the Trust may amend existing approved contracts.  
The factors governing the consideration of such amendments shall include, but not 
be limited to, the following criteria: 
 

1.  The requirement for additional work to complete a particular project was 
unforeseen; it must be related to the scope of the original contract and must 
be deemed necessary for the completion of that project.  The cost (if any) of 
the additional work must be demonstrated to be reasonable and must be 
consistent with the rates charged in the contract. 

 
2. All contract amendments require the mutual written agreement of both 
the Trust and the vendor, contractor, or individual. 

 
 
7.  Preparation of Annual Report on Procurement Contracts 
 

A report shall be made to the Board, on an annual basis, covering the status of all 
procurement contracts entered into. The Board shall review and approve the annual 
procurement report. 

                   
A. The annual report on procurement contracts  shall include:  

 
 
1. The Guidelines and any amendments to the Guidelines since the last 

annual report; 
 

2. A list of procurement contracts entered into since the last annual report; 
including the selection process used to select contractors and the status of 
existing procurement contracts; 

 
3. A list of the fees, commissions and other charges paid to the contractor 

enumerated pursuant to clause 2 above; 
 

4. The results of any allegation of improper lobbying influence and or non-
responsibility pursuant to State Finance Law Section 139-j and k; 

 
5. A list of those contacts between Trust personnel involved in the 

determination of the procurement contract and employees, agents or 
consultants of any proposer competing for the contract, as required to be 
reported by State Finance Law Sections 139-j and k. 
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B. The Trust’s annual report on procurement contracts may be made a part of any 
other annual report the Trust is required to make. 

 
C. The Trust shall make copies of its annual report on procurement contracts 

available to the public upon reasonable request. 
 

D.    The Trust will report annually on all procurement contracts pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 2879 of the Public Authorities Law. 

 
E.   Copies of the annual procurement report approved by the Board shall be sent 

to the Office of the State Comptroller, Assembly Ways and Means 
Committee, the Senate Finance Committee, the Division of the Budget and the 
Department of Economic Development, as required by law. 

 
8. Minority and Woman-Owned Business Enterprises  
 
        The Trust, in order to encourage the use of Minority and Woman-Owned Business 
Enterprises (“MWBE”) in procurement contracts, shall make prudent efforts to solicit 
bids from such enterprises known to have experience in the area of the goods and 
services to be provided, regardless of the type of contract. The Trust may consult any list 
maintained by any state agency or department known to the corporation which identifies 
MWBEs by area of expertise and contact such enterprises to solicit their bids. 
Furthermore, if the performance of any procurement contract permits or requires the use 
of a subcontractor, these contracts shall require the prime contractor to act affirmatively 
to encourage participation by MWBEs in such subcontract and to report the nature and 
extent of such efforts to the Trust.  For the purpose of these Procurement Guidelines, the 
terms “Minority Business Enterprise” and “Woman-Owned Business Enterprise” shall 
have the respective meanings assigned to them in Sections 2879 (3) (c), (d) and (e) of the 
Public Authorities Law. 
 
         For all other procurements defined in section 2879 in the Public Authorities Law, 
the procedures incorporated in the Trust’s approved Minority and Women-Owned 
Business Goal Plan (“Plan”) shall be strictly followed.  This Plan and its procedures, 
which reflect the recent amendment requirements of Section 2879 of the Public 
Authorities Law are incorporated into these Procurement Guidelines by reference. 
 
 In furtherance of the provisions of this Part: 
 
A. The Trust shall designate one or more senior staff to oversee its programs established 
to promote and assist: (i) participation by certified MWBEs in the Trust’s procurement 
opportunities and facilitation of the award of procurement contracts to such enterprises; 
(ii) the utilization of certified MWBEs as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having 
procurement contracts with the Trust; and (iii) the utilization of partnerships, joint 
ventures or other similar arrangements between certified MWBEs and other entities 
having procurement contracts with the Trust.  
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B. In addition to publication of procurement contracts in the State’s procurement 
opportunities newsletter the Trust shall also provide notice to professional and other 
organizations that serve MWBEs providing the types of services procured by the Trust.  
 
C. The Trust shall maintain lists of qualified certified MWBEs, including professional 
firms that have expressed interest in doing business with the Trust and ensuring that such 
lists are updated regularly. The Trust shall also consult the lists of certified MWBEs 
maintained by the Department of Economic Development pursuant to Article 15-A of the 
Executive Law.  
 
D. The Trust shall establish appropriate goals for participation by MWBEs in 
procurement contracts awarded by the corporation and for the utilization of MWBEs as 
subcontractors and suppliers having procurement contracts with the Trust. 
 
E. The Trust shall include requirements as provided by Section 2879 of the Public 
Authorities Law that will enable the Trust to achieve the maximum feasible portion of the 
goals established pursuant to this Part and shall endeavor to eliminate barriers to 
participation by MWBEs in the Trust’s procurements contracts.  The Trust shall include: 
  

1. The expected degree of MWBE participation; 
2. Provisions relating to joint ventures, under which a bidder may count toward 

meeting its MWBE participation goal; 
3. Provisions under which the Trust may waive obligations of the contractor 

relating to MWBE participation after a showing of good faith efforts to 
comply with the requirements of these guidelines and all applicable laws 
pursuant to the waiver provisions contained in Article Fifteen-A of the 
executive law; and  

4. Verification that MWBEs listed in a successful bid are actually participating 
to the extent listed on the project for which the bid was submitted. 

 
9.    Procurement Contracts with Former Directors, Officers or Employees of the    
       Trust 
 
        The Trust may not enter into procurement contracts with former directors, officers 
or employees of the corporation where such contracts would be in contravention of law, 
would create a conflict of interest or would create the appearance of impropriety. 
 
10.    Procedural Controls to Prohibit Improper Lobbying Influence   
 
         The Trust will ensure that procurement contracts comply with the provisions set 
forth in State Finance Law Sections 139-j and 139-k to ensure that improper lobbying 
influence relative to all procurement contract awards does not take place and to ensure 
that potential vendors, contractors, and individuals are deemed responsible.  Attachment 
A provides guidance for compliance with State Finance Law Sections 139-j and 139-k.  
Employees and officers should refer to the full text of the law to resolve any specific 
questions and/or circumstances that may arise.  
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A. Employee Reporting Requirements 

 
Any Trust officer, account holder, or employee who becomes aware of any 
improper lobbying influence or any attempt to influence the procurement process 
shall immediately notify the Trust Ethics Officer.  The Ethics Officer shall review 
and immediately investigate any and all allegations of improper lobbying influence 
or attempt thereof, or any attempt to influence the procurement process. The 
contractor, vendor, or individual shall have an opportunity to be heard in response 
to any allegation. If the attempt to influence the procurement process is found to 
have occurred, then the Trust may impose such sanctions as it deems appropriate, 
which may include but shall not be limited to the elimination of the proposal from 
consideration with respect to that contract award. 

 
Acceding to improper lobbying influence or failure to report any attempt to        
influence the procurement process is a violation of Trust policy and employee 
violations of this policy may be the basis for disciplinary action and, depending on 
the circumstances, may be a violation of Public Officers Law Section 73 (5) or 74, 
subject to enforcement by the State Commission on Public Integrity. In addition, 
where such conduct violates the Public Officers Law, such matter shall be referred 
to the Office of the Inspector General and the State Commission on Public Integrity, 
as may be appropriate. 

 
11.    Vendor Responsibility 
 
         In accordance with the guidelines set forth in the NYS Office of the State 
Comptroller’s bulletin G-221, the Trust shall make every effort to ensure that potential 
contractors are deemed responsible.  The Trust shall review such contractors to the extent 
that the Trust is satisfied that the contractor satisfies the following criteria: 
 
         (i)      The contractor is legally authorized to do business in New York State. 
         (ii)     The contractor possesses the integrity to perform the contract. 
         (iii)    The contractor is financially capable of carrying out the contract. 
         (iv)    The contractor has performed satisfactorily on other government contracts.    
 
12.    Annual Review and Approval of Guidelines and Report of Procurement Contracts 
          
         The Board shall review annually the Trust’s Purchasing and Procurement 
Guidelines for compliance with applicable laws, rules and consistency with best 
practices.  The Board shall also adopt an annual Report of Procurement Contracts and 
disseminate it in accordance with Section 6(e) of these Procurement Guidelines. 
 
 
13.      Effect of Noncompliance with Guidelines 
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            Failure by the Trust to comply with the provision of these Procurement 
Guidelines shall not be deemed to alter, or in any way affect the validity of, or modify the 
terms of, or impair any rights or privileges of the Trust under, any procurement contract 
entered into by the Trust. 
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ATTACHMENT A 
 

SUMMARY OF AND  GUIDELINES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH  
 § 139-J and §139-K OF THE STATE FINANCE LAW 

 
  
 
Section 139-j of the State Finance Law imposes restrictions on how a person may communicate with a 
governmental entity, such as the Natural Heritage Trust (hereafter, referred as “ the Trust”), concerning a 
governmental procurement during a period of time called the “restricted period,” which is defined broadly 
as the period of time commencing from the earliest written notice announcing a government procurement 
until the award is approved by the State Comptroller.  
 
These requirements cover a wide range of government contracting transactions, including the purchase of a 
commodity, service, technology, public work, construction and revenue contract, or the purchase, sale or 
lease of real property or the acquisition or the granting of other interests in real property (hereafter referred 
as “governmental procurement or procurement contract.”  Any prospective vendor or related party in the 
private sector (hereinafter referred to as “the vendor”) interested in contacting the Trust concerning anyone 
of these types of transactions is covered under the provisions of the new law, which limits the way that 
such person can communicate with the Trust during the “restricted period.”   
 
For each governmental procurement, the Trust will designate an employee or employees that may be 
contacted by the vendor  concerning all aspects of the governmental procurement.  With very few statutory 
exceptions,  the vendor is required to communicate during the restricted period with this designated 
person(s) designated by the Trust (herein referred to as the “Trust Designee”).  If  vendor communication 
can be inferred by a reasonable person to be an attempt to influence the procurement, by law the vendor  is 
required to only communicate with the Trust Designee .  If communication with a vendor is interpreted as 
an attempt to influence the procurement, the Trust Designee is required to record your name, address, 
telephone number, place of principle employment, and occupation of the vendor making the contact and 
inquire and record whether the vendor  making the contact is a principal  vendor or was hired by the 
principal vendor to make the contact.  This recorded information must be retained in the procurement 
record.   
 
If, however, the vendor communicates with someone other than the Trust Designee and the vendor  
communication can be construed by a reasonable person to be an attempt to influence the governmental 
procurement, and the communication is not otherwise listed as an exception to the law, this communication 
will be deemed impermissible per the terms of the law which requires that the communication be reported 
to the Trust’s Ethics Officer for investigation.  If a communication during the “restricted period” may be 
deemed an attempt to influence the procurement such communication may only be with the Trust Designee 
.  
  
It is the policy of the Trust  to interpret as broadly as possible what communications are intended to 
influence the governmental procurement, and are not just those attempts to influence the procurement in 
such a manner that would be in violation of the ethical prohibitions against gifts or which would result in 
any violation of the Ethics Law.  Communications of  a nature that are in violation of the Ethics Law will 
be immediately reported to the Ethics Officer for investigation regardless of whether the contact was made 
to the Trust designee  or someone else.     
 
As referenced before, the law specifically permits certain types of contacts by persons to the Trust 
concerning the governmental procurement.  These are: 
 

• the submission of written proposals in response to a request for proposal, invitation for bids or any 
other method for soliciting a response from interested parties; 

• the submission of written questions to a designated contact, when all written questions and 
responses are to be disseminated to all persons interested in such procurement; 

• participation in a conference where all interested parties are invited to attend; 



 12 

• written complaints made to the General Counsel’s Office of the Trust  concerning the timely 
response to issues posed to the designated person, provided that such written complaints are made 
part of the procurement record; 

• communications where the contract award has been tentatively made and where such 
communications are necessary to negotiate the terms of the procurement contract; 

• requests made to the designated person or persons to review the procurement award; 
• written protests, appeals, or other review proceedings to either the Trust or an outside agency. 

 
Any contact alleged to be an impermissible contact under the law will be immediately referred to and 
investigated by the Trust’s Ethics Officer.  The Ethics Officer shall promptly investigate the allegation by 
interviewing all employees or vendor involved or who are believed to have information about the 
impermissible contact.  If sufficient cause exists to believe that such allegation is true, the vendor being 
investigated shall be given notice that an investigation is ongoing and such vendor  shall be afforded an 
opportunity to be heard in response to the allegation either by responding in writing or by providing a 
statement before the Ethics Officer, who shall record by appropriate means such statement for the record.  
The Ethics Officer shall keep a record of the investigation and shall make a written finding of the results of 
such investigation and report these findings to the Executive Director.  
 
In addition, a finding by the Ethics Officer that a vendor has knowingly and willingly violated the law by 
making an impermissible contact shall result in a determination of non-responsibility and such vendor and 
all associated subsidiaries of such vendor shall not be awarded the procurement contract.  The 
determination of non-responsibility shall also be forwarded to the Commissioner of the Office of General 
Services (or his or her designee), which by law is required to keep a list of such determinations for public 
inspection.  Determinations of non-responsibility must be disclosed in all future responses to New York 
State procurements.  With few exceptions, no procurement contract shall be awarded to any vendor who 
fails to disclose findings of non-responsibility within the previous four years.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Natural Heritage Trust 
2022-2023 Employee Report 

June 2023 
 
Report Background 

The NHT is required by Public Authorities Law Section 2806 to provide the Authorities Budget Office with an 
annual report of all employee names, titles, salaries and paid compensation. This information is submitted 
through the Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS).  NHT also provides this supplemental 
narrative for additional context on programs that have NHT staff.  
 
Employee Summary 

On March 31, 2023 the NHT had 62 employees on payroll, including 54 full-time and 8 part-time.  
 
NHT Administrative Staff are responsible for core operations of the NHT including fundraising and donor 
relations, banking, accounting, investment management, compliance, payroll and benefits. NHT program staff 
employees support our partners in several different program areas as further described on the Program and 
Project descriptions.      
 

 Full-Time Employees Part-Time/Seasonal Employees 
NHT Administration 6 -  
OPRHP Program Staff 31 7 
DOS Program Staff 13                      - 
DEC Program Staff 4                              1 

Total: 54 8 
 
The NHT Administrative Staffing level remained constant.  
 
The total number of program staff positions increased about 10% compared to last fiscal the year. NHT on-
boarded 28 new staff members and off-boarded 28 staff members. Turnover of full-time staff positions was 
almost 27%. This is more than most prior years; the continued effect of lifting the state agency hiring freeze in 
2022.    
 
Salaries/Compensation 

The average NHT Employee salary for FY 2022-2023 was approximately $64,757.  
 
The average NHT Hourly/Seasonal wage was $21.97/hour. 
 
Eligible employees received either a $1,500 or $2,250 merit award based on an annual satisfactory evaluation. 
The merit awards are paid from the pooled fringe benefit account and are not added to base salary.    
 
In June 2022, and consistent with actions taken by the Governor for other unrepresented employees, the NHT 
processed retroactive general salary increases of 2% for both FY 22 and 23. Prior to these adjustments, NHT had 
not processed generally salary increases since April 2020.   



Programs and Projects  

NHT Employees supported the following cooperative programs and initiatives: 
 
OPRHP-Sponsored Programs* 

Historic Preservation  
Park Planning 
Natural Resource Stewardship  
Bayard Cutting Arboretum  
Niagara River Greenway 
Rockefeller Stewardship  
Ladders to the Outdoors 
Ganondagan State Historic Site Cultural Liaison  
Lucy Waletzky Environmental Stewardship 
Connect Kids to Parks 
Shirley Chisholm State Park Bike Library 
Thacher State Park 

 
DOS-Sponsored Programs* 

South Shore Estuary Reserve 
 Consistency Reviews  

Oceans and Great Lakes/Downtown Revitalization Initiative  
 
DEC-Sponsored Programs* 

Habitat Improvement Projects  
Hudson River Natural Resource Damages 

 
*See following pages for a description of existing program areas and funding sources.  
 
 

 
 
 



NHT Administrative & Program Descriptions 
 
 
 
NHT Administration 

The NHT Administrative staff are responsible for the investment and management of the Trust’s assets, 
operations, program development, policy-making, legal matters, payroll, employee benefits, time and 
attendance, banking, accounting, purchasing, payment processing, compliance, contract management, private 
fundraising and donor relations. Funding for NHT Administrative staff come from interest on the “Main 
Management” investment accounts and administrative fees on most endowment accounts and program staff 
accounts.    
 
OPRHP Program Staff 
 
Historic Preservation  
 

NHT Historic Preservation staff work on accelerated State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) reviews for 
construction projects, survey and GIS work, and interpretation at State Historic Sites.  Funding comes from the 
National Park Service, Housing Agency Funds and Environmental Protection Fund (EPF).  
 
Park Planning 
 

NHT Planning staff assists OPRHP in its statewide Master Planning initiative. The planners coordinate the public 
comment and hearings, environmental studies and impact statements, and mapping necessary to complete 
master plans. Funding for the work comes from the EPF.  
 
Natural Resource Stewardship 
 

Some NHT Natural Resources staff work with the Ocean and Great Lakes Ecosystem Conservation Council and 
DEC/OPRHP staff to integrate ecosystem-based management into state agency policies and operations and 
existing environmental laws. Other Natural Resource staff work with OPRHP to implement the Invasive Species 
Task Force’s recommendations to manage non-native plant and insect species that can cause harm to the 
environment and/or human health. Other work includes energy efficiency and sustainability in new construction 
and/or redesign of sites and facilities, expansion of the NYS Conservation Corp program (to assist in operations 
and maintenance of parks and facilities), as well as many region-specific projects addressing impacts on local 
ecology and habitats. Funding for this work comes from the EPF.  
 
Bayard Cutting Arboretum  
 

NHT staff oversee and the rare plant collections and maintain the historic properties at the Arboretum. NHT 
staff also manage a Community Sponsored Agricultural Program which educates the public about sustainability 
and invites community volunteers to participate in the planting, cultivating and harvesting processes. The NHT 
receives funds from the Bayard Cutting Arboretum Trust for this program. 
 
 
 
 
 



Niagara River Greenway 
 

The NHT supports the Niagara River Greenway Commission in its efforts to redefine the Niagara riverfront by 
increasing access to the Greenway, revitalizing the river environment and celebrating the region's industrial 
heritage. The NHT staff assists in regional planning initiatives and events, with funding from the EPF.   
 
Rockefeller State Park Preserve Stewardship 
 

NHT staff is responsible for implementing ecological stewardship, coordinating vegetation management with the 
OPRHP’s maintenance team, enacting stewardship and habitat restoration strategies to conserve native species 
and the varied natural communities in the Preserve. Other NHT staff maintains and manages buildings and 
grounds throughout the 1400-acre Preserve. The positions are funded from the endowment NHT holds for the 
Preserve.  
 
Ladders to the Outdoors 
 

Ladders to the Outdoors manages youth recreation programs at state parks, first implemented in the Niagara 
Region. The program creates strategic partnerships within the community to connect regional youth, particularly 
from underserved communities, with outdoor recreation activities in NYS parks that may not have otherwise 
been made available. The NHT has received funds from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation for this program, and 
more recently from OPRHP to support a statewide coordinator to expand the program.  
 
Cultural Liaison at Ganondagan State Historic Site 
 

NHT staff collaborate with the Friends of Ganondagan, Seneca Nations of Indians, Tonawanda Seneca Nation 
and the Rock Foundation/Rochester Museum and Science Center to implement and improve a variety of 
programs and purposes at Ganondagan State Historic Site. The position is funded from the Ganondagon 
endowment managed by the Community Foundation for the Friends.  
 
Lucy Waletzky Environmental Stewardship 
 

Two NHT program staff positions were funded by Lucy R. Waletzky upon her retirement from the State Council 
of Parks (SCOP): the Waletzky Environmental Stewardship Fellow and the SCOP Coordinator. The former works 
beside the OPRHP Division of Environmental Stewardship to assess, coordinate and develop stewardship plans 
at both the park-specific and statewide levels. The latter coordinates all SCOP meetings, appointments and 
collateral. 
 
Connect Kids to Parks 
 

NHT staff works closely with OPRHP staff to manage the grant process of the Connect Kids to Parks program, 
which provides transportation grants designed to connect students in New York State with the nature and 
history of state parks.  
 
Bike Library Program at Shirley Chisholm 
 

NHT seasonal employees manage the donation, refurbishment and rental of used bicycles, which in turn are 
rented out to the public and used for specialized programming throughout Shirley Chisholm State Park. The Bike 
Library is open from spring through fall. The NHT has received support from Con Edison for this program. 
 
 
 



Thacher State Park 
 

The endowments held by the NHT fund part-time staff at the Emma Treadwell Thacher Nature Center and the 
Thacher Visitor Center to manage and provide environmental education and geology programming to the public.  
 
 
DOS Program Staff 
 
South Shore Estuary Reserve 
 

NHT staff work with DOS to implement the South Shore Estuary Reserve’s Comprehensive Management Plan 
(CMP). The CMP is a multi-year initiative focused on protecting, restoring, and educating the public about the 
estuary and stewardship. Funding for the program comes from the EPF.  
 
Consistency Review 
 

NHT Coastal Consistency staff work with DOS to perform regulatory reviews of projects that are consistent with 
the State’s Coastal Management Program. Funding for the reviews comes from federal appropriations for 
Consistency.   
 
Oceans and Great Lakes 
 

NHT staff assists DOS and OPRHP to further ecosystem-based management programs in the Ocean and Great 
Lakes watersheds, state agency policies and operations and existing environmental laws. Funding comes from 
the EPF. 
 
 
DEC Program Staff 
 
Habitat Improvement Projects 
 

NHT staff work with DEC to develop and manage several habitat improvement and public access projects 
throughout NYS, including the St. Lawrence River, Niagara River, and Hudson River. Funding for these projects 
come from environmental benefit (mitigation) funds from the New York Power Authority, Thruway Authority 
and Environmental Protection Fund.   
 
Hudson River Natural Resource Damages  
 

NHT staff oversees data collection, analysis and legal case assessment of damaged natural resources along the 
Hudson River. Along with DEC staff, they will use their findings to plan and implement restoration strategies to 
return injured resources to their baselines. Funding comes from the EPF. 
 
 
Part-Time/Seasonal  
 

The NHT continues to employ part-time and seasonal staff that work on a vast variety or programs and 
initiatives. Some of these employees work part-time on the programs listed above, while others provide limited 
supplemental support for environmental education and interpretive programs, filming projects and trail 
maintenance. The funding comes from Friends Groups, Not-for-Profits, State Agencies, Foundations and 
Endowments. 







Natural Heritage Trust 
Performance Measures Report FY 2022-2023 

 

Report Background 

The 2009 Public Authorities Reform Act requires public authorities to develop performance measures to 
assist their organization in determining how effectively it is fulfilling its mission. The Natural Heritage 
Trust (NHT) submitted its performance measures to the Authorities Budget Office and NHT is required to 
prepare a measurement report annually to ensure the performance goals continue to support NHT’s 
mission. 

Mission Statement 

The NHT’s mission is to receive and administer gifts, grants, devises and bequests of real and personal 
property to further conservation, outdoor recreation, historic preservation and waterfront and 
community revitalization.   

The NHT accomplishes its mission by facilitating private investment for these purposes.  The NHT 
ensures the safekeeping, prudent investment and appropriate expenditure of funds on cooperative 
programs and projects with its agency partners: New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic 
Preservation (OPRHP), Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) and the Department of State 
(DOS). The NHT also partners with other public and private entities, not-for-profits and friends groups 
that share mission-compatible goals and purposes. 

Measure 1  

Assist agency partners in facilitating private investment in New York State parks and historic sites, 
environmental conservation and education and waterfront restoration/revitalization efforts. 

 Utilize the Trust’s 501(c)(3) not-for-profit status and ability to accept restricted gifts to increase 
donation potential 

The NHT has continued to support its agency partners by securing private resources for environment, 
preservation and recreational programs and projects in a variety of ways. In FY 2022-2023, the NHT 
brought in approximately $15.4 million in gifts, grants and other funds in support of these purposes. As 
of year-end, the NHT had assets totaling over $62.5 million. Of that, $57.3 million is managed in a 
fiduciary capacity for the NHT’s agency partners.  

 

 

 



As of 3/31/23, the NHT managed approximately $31.8 million for park and facility-specific endowments 
and $25.6 million for a wide variety environmental, historic, cultural and recreational purposes 
statewide.  

The following chart summarizes the fiduciary growth in endowments and programs managed by the 
NHT over the last 10+ years: 

 

 
 Increase public awareness of the existence of the NHT through promotional materials 
 Adhere to donor requirements as specified in gift agreements 

Although the majority of donations to the NHT are of smaller dollar amounts, the larger gifts generally 
have an associated gift agreement. While each agreement varies depending on the nature and duration 
of the project, the NHT has complied with the terms of each gift agreement by ensuring that all 
expenditures are made in accordance with the specified terms and by providing income and expense 
reports, investment summaries and other reports relating to the administration of the gift. 

The Donor Perfect fundraising software not only tracks donor and donation information, but also 
provides features like reminders for foundation grant reporting deadlines. Additionally, the software’s 
donation form function is used exclusively to collect online donations, which allows for more 
customization of donation pages.   

NHT debuted its own standalone website, email distribution lists and social media presence in June 
2021. These new channels provide a more streamlined donor experience as well attracting new and 
engaging current donors directly. The site provides much-needed autonomy that allows for more 
efficient communication management and site maintenance, enhancing the user and administrator 
experience. 



These new platforms have allowed NHT to expand its fundraising reach, disseminate more information 
to the public about the programs and projects it supports, and work with agency partners to develop 
more donor opportunities. For instance, the new website includes a detailed landing page for DEC which 
highlights many public programs that agency oversees as well as offers donors the opportunity to give 
directly to DEC properties.  

In 2022, NHT worked with agency partners DEC and State Parks on a new program with the state’s 
campground reservation system, Reserve America. This program offers campers the opportunity to 
“round-up” when completing payment for camping reservations, with donations going to the NHT to 
support state-operated campgrounds. Participation has been robust, with more than 20,000 round-ups 
completed. 

These initiatives have strengthened the NHT’s identity as the charitable partner to New York’s public 
lands. 

Measure 2 

Ensure continued receipt of revenues and safekeeping of funds held in the Trust. 

 Invest funds in a manner consistent with the objective(s) of the gift, grant, program and/or 
project 

 Maximize investment returns consistent with the investment policy statements for operating 
funds, capital/reserve funds, and endowment funds 

The Board has adopted three Investment Policy Statements (IPS’s) that supplement the NHT’s 
Investment and Banking Policy. Each IPS serves as the blueprint of the investment strategy for the types 
of funds the NHT manages: Operating, Capital/Reserve and Endowment funds. In January 2021, the 
Board adopted a resolution to incorporate an Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) investment 
strategy into each IPS in order to better align its investments with the organization’s core mission of 
supporting parks and the environment. FY 2022-2023 was the second full year with an ESG portfolio.  

Investments in FY 2022-2023 were down the first two quarters and rebounded in the second two 
quarters, but still ended the year down overall, largely mimicking the activity of the broader financial 
and major capital markets. The total portfolio ended the year down about -4.03%.  

As of Fiscal Year-End, the NHT had 20 investment accounts. The total returns equated to: 
• -0.08% return on the Main (Project/Program) Management account (Benchmark = -0.25%) 

o As of FYE the Main (Project/Program) Management Account was valued at $22.8 million 
(representing about 41% of total investments) 

• -5.15% on the 2 Capital/Reserve accounts (Benchmark = - 4.81%) 
o Capital/Reserve accounts were valued at $1.7 million (about 3% of total investments) 

• -5.79% on Endowment/Long-term Investment accounts (Benchmark = -5.46%) 
o Long-term investment accounts were valued at $33.5 million (about 56% of total 

investments 



 

 
Measure 3 

Participate in cooperative programs and projects with the Trust’s agency partners: the Office of Parks, 
Recreation and Historic Preservation, the Department of Environmental Conservation, and the 
Department of State. 

 Where applicable, provide goods and services, including staffing resources to complete projects 
and program objectives 

As of FYE, the NHT supported 15 program areas that required full-time staff including: Historic 
Preservation, Natural Resource Stewardship, Park Planning, Bayard Cutting/Community Sponsored 
Farming, the Niagara River Greenway, Rockefeller State Park Preserve, Ladders to the Outdoors, 
Ganondagan State Historic Site, Lucy Waletzky Environmental Stewardship, Connect Kids to Parks, South 
Shore Estuary, Coastal Consistency Review, two habitat programs, and Ocean and Great Lakes.  

In 2022, the NHT worked with State Parks to support three new staffing position to advance important 
agency priorities: 

1. “Our Whole History”: A new position within the State Historic Preservation Office will inform 
and assist with the development and incorporation of Indigenous stories into the interpretation 
of its thirty-five state historic sites and state parks with historic resources. 

2. Environmental Stewardship: The new Waletkzy Environmental Stewardship Fellowship, 
administered by the Trust, began work with the State Park’s Division of Environmental 
Stewardship and Planning focused on initiatives to combat climate change and ensure healthy 
habitats for wildlife and biodiversity. 



3. Ladders to the Outdoors: The Statewide Ladders to the Outdoors Coordinator will oversee the 
expansion of this program that expands access to outdoor recreation in public lands among 
underserved youth and communities. 

As of FYE, there were 62 employees on the payroll in support of these programmatic purposes. This 
staffing level increased about 10% from the previous fiscal year.  

 

The NHT was also instrumental in facilitating several large equipment purchases, capital expenses as 
well as smaller purchases for a variety of programs and projects  

In total, the NHT expended about $16.3 million on capital projects, program staffing, and goods and 
services in support of cooperative programs and initiatives undertaken with the NHT’s agency and other 
partners.  

 Adhere to requirements as specified in grant and funding agreements 

The NHT has complied with the terms of its funding agreements. Where applicable, financial and grant 
status and budget reports have been submitted in a timely manner. Program expenses have also 
remained within budget targets, where applicable. 

Measure 4 

Build partnerships with other public and private entities having mutual interests and purposes.   

 Collaborate with Friends Groups 
 Provide support to committees, boards and commissions that share mission-compatible goals 

The NHT continued to partner with the Palisades Interstate Park Commission in accepting some small 
grants for expanding programming in some Palisade regions parks. The NHT was also instrumental in 



fundraising for the maintenance endowment for the Autism Nature Trail at Letchworth State Park. 
Finally, the NHT continued its partnership with the Hudson River Valley Greenway to complete five 
Empire State Trail Gateways. The NHT also facilitated improvements to regional trails along the Genesee 
Valley Greenway through the acceptance of grant funds from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation. The 
NHT also facilitated receipt and administration of a grant the Niagara River Greenway Commission will 
use to build stewardship in the Greater Tonawanda community.     

Throughout the fiscal year, the NHT and its agency partners worked in partnership with 57 foundations, 
not-for-profits, commissions and other government partners. The NHT annual report summarizes many 
of these collaborative efforts and includes a full list of supporters. 

In 2023, NHT supported the NYS Parks 2024 Centennial Steering Committee including outreach and 
coordination with statewide partners, the State Council of Parks and regional park commissions, and 
Friends groups in support of projects, programs and new initiatives that will commemorate the 100th 

anniversary of the New York State Park system as well as ignite support among a new generation of park 
visitors.  

 Solicit private sponsorships 

The NHT received support from over 63 corporate contributors and activity sponsors. These contributors 
and sponsors provided extra support for many projects and programs that would not happen otherwise. 

Measure 5 

Implement and follow best practices related to the functions of the Board of Directors, organizational 
governance and transparency. 

The NHT Board of Directors meets three times per year to review and adopt the NHT’s budget, review 
and approve the investment and procurement policies, receive annual updates from the NHT’s 
investment management team and to review the results of the independent audit and investment 
review. The Board also receives regular updates on programs and projects supported the NHT. All Board 
activity is recorded and posted to the NHT’s website. All NHT Board Meetings are open to the public 
both in person and via webcast.  

In 2022, the NHT reconstituted its Governance Committee to keep the Board informed of current best 
practices in corporate governance, review corporate governance trends for their applicability to the 
Trust, and recommend updates to the Trust's corporate governance principles and governance 
practices. The Governance Committee also reviews written NHT policies, procedures and any documents 
related to the governance of the organization. 

In 2023, the NHT updated its bylaws to reflect current organizational and administrative practices. The 
NHT executive staff worked closely with the Governance Committee to ensure that the bylaws reflect 
best practices in Board management.  

 




























































































































